

MINUTES

PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE

02 March 2016

6.00pm

City of Albany Council Chambers

CITY OF ALBANY COMMUNITY STRATEGIC PLAN (ALBANY 2023)

VISION

Western Australia's most sought after and unique regional city to live, work and visit.

VALUES

All Councillors, Staff and Volunteers at the City of Albany will be ...

Focused: on community outcomes

This means we will listen and pay attention to our community. We will consult widely and set clear direction for action. We will do what we say we will do to ensure that if it's good for Albany, we get it done.

United: by working and learning together

This means we will work as a team, sharing knowledge and skills. We will build strong relationships internally and externally through effective communication. We will support people to help them reach their full potential by encouraging loyalty, trust, innovation and high performance.

Accountable: for our actions

This means we will act professionally using resources responsibly; (people, skills and physical assets as well as money). We will be fair and consistent when allocating these resources and look for opportunities to work jointly with other directorates and with our partners. We will commit to a culture of continuous improvement.

Proud: of our people and our community

This means we will earn respect and build trust between ourselves, and the residents of Albany through the honesty of what we say and do and in what we achieve together. We will be transparent in our decision making and committed to serving the diverse needs of the community while recognising we can't be all things to all people.

TERMS OF REFERENCE

(1) Function:

The Planning and Development Committee will be responsible for the delivery of the following Liveable Environmental Objectives contained in the City of Albany Strategic Plan:

- (a) To advocate, plan and build connected, liveable communities;
- (b) To create a community that supports people of all ages and backgrounds;
- (c) To create vibrant neighbourhoods which are safe yet retain our local character and heritage.

(2) It will achieve this by:

- (a) Developing policies and strategies;
- (b) Establishing ways to measure progress;
- (c) Receiving progress reports;
- (d) Considering officer advice;
- (e) Debating topical issues;
- (f) Providing advice on effective ways to engage and report progress to the Community ; and
- (g) Making recommendations to Council.
- (3) Chairperson: Councillor N Mulcahy
- (4) **Membership:** Open to all elected members, who wish to be members
- (5) Meeting Schedule: 1st Wednesday of the Month
- (6) Meeting Location: Council Chambers
- (7) Executive Officer: Executive Director Planning & Development
- (8) Delegated Authority: None

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Details	Pg#
1.	DECLARATION OF OPENING	4
2.	PRAYER AND ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF TRADITIONAL LAND OWNERS	4
3.	RECORD OF APOLOGIES AND LEAVE OF ABSENCE	4
4.	DISCLOSURES OF INTEREST	5
5.	REPORTS OF MEMBERS	5
6.	RESPONSE TO PREVIOUS PUBLIC QUESTIONS TAKEN ON NOTICE	5
7.	PUBLIC QUESTION TIME	5
8.	APPLICATIONS FOR LEAVE OF ABSENCE	5
9.	PETITIONS AND DEPUTATIONS	5
10.	CONFIRMATION OF MINUTES	5
11.	PRESENTATIONS	5
12.	UNRESOLVED BUSINESS FROM PREVIOUS MEETINGS	5
13.	MINUTES AND RECOMMENDATIONS OF COMMITTEES	5
PD117	CONSIDERATION OF SCHEME AMENDMENT – LOT 734 BARKER ROAD, CENTENNIAL PARK	6
PD118	CONSIDERATION OF MODIFICATIONS TO THE BIG GROVE OUTLINE DEVELOPMENT PLAN	12
14.	NEW BUSINESS OF AN URGENT NATURE INTRODUCED BY DECISION OF COUNCIL	20
15.	MOTIONS OF WHICH PREVIOUS NOTICE HAS BEEN GIVEN	20
16.	REPORTS OF CITY OFFICERS	20
17.	MEETING CLOSED TO PUBLIC	20
18.	CLOSURE	20

1. DECLARATION OF OPENING 6:00:05 PM

2. PRAYER AND ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF TRADITIONAL LAND OWNERS

"Heavenly Father, we thank you for the peace and beauty of this area. Direct and prosper the deliberations of this Council for the advancement of the City and the welfare of its people. Amen."

"We would like to acknowledge the Noongar people who are the Traditional Custodians of the Land.

We would also like to pay respect to Elders both past and present".

3. RECORD OF APOLOGIES AND LEAVE OF ABSENCE

B Hollingworth (Deputy Chair) A Goode JP G Stocks R Hammond J Shanhun R Sutton
D Putland C McMurtrie J Cobbold M Cole
A Moir Mayor D Wellington N Mulcahy (Chair) J van der Mescht A Sharpe Cr Dowling

4. DISCLOSURES OF INTEREST

Nil

- 5. REPORTS OF MEMBERS
 - Nil
- 6. RESPONSE TO PREVIOUS PUBLIC QUESTIONS TAKEN ON NOTICE Nil

7. PUBLIC QUESTION TIME

The following member of the public addressed the Planning and Development Committee with regard to PD118: CONSIDERATION OF MODIFICATIONS TO THE BIG GROVE OUTLINE DEVELOPMENT PLAN

Gordon Smith – PD118 - Speaking against the recommendation – **APPENDIX A** Dale Putland - Questions on notice.

- 8. APPLICATIONS FOR LEAVE OF ABSENCE Nil
- 9. PETITIONS AND DEPUTATIONS Nil
- 10. CONFIRMATION OF MINUTES

DRAFT MOTION

VOTING REQUIREMENT: SIMPLE MAJORITY

MOVED: COUNCILLOR SHANHUN SECONDED: COUNCILLOR GOODE

THAT the minutes of the Planning and Development Committee Meeting held on 03 February 2016, as previously distributed, be CONFIRMED as a true and accurate record of proceedings.

CARRIED: 6-0

11. PRESENTATIONS / DISCUSSION

Nil

12. UNRESOLVED BUSINESS FROM PREVIOUS MEETINGS Nil

PD117: CONSIDERATION OF SCHEME AMENDMENT – LOT 734 BARKER ROAD, CENTENNIAL PARK

Land Description	:	Lots 734 Barker Road, Centennial Park
Proponent	:	Harley Dykstra Pty Ltd
Owner	:	Portstyle Enterprises Pty Ltd
Business Entity Name	:	Portstyle Enterprises Pty Ltd
Directors		Brian William Backhouse, James Arthur Richards,
		Douglas Charles Buckley
Attachments	:	1. Schedule of Submissions and Modifications
		2. Local Planning Scheme Amendment No. 16 report
Supplementary Information &		
Councillor Workstation	:	Copy of submissions
Report Prepared by	:	Planning Officer (C McMurtrie)
Responsible Officer	:	Executive Director Planning and Development (D Putland)
Responsible Officer's Signature):	DaleRM

STRATEGIC IMPLICATIONS

- 1. Council is required to exercise its quasi-judicial function in this matter.
- 2. When exercising its discretion in relation to planning matters, the pertinent strategic document is the *Albany Local Planning Strategy*.
- 3. This proposal is consistent with the strategic direction set in the *Albany Local Planning Strategy*.

Maps and Diagrams:



In Brief:

 At its Ordinary Meeting on 27 October 2015, Council adopted a local planning scheme amendment to modify Schedule 4 – Special Use Zones No. SU17 to include 'Park Home Park' as a land use with 'D' permissibility under Condition 1, and to insert a new Condition 6 stating that:

"The development of the Park Home Park use will be subject to demonstrating compliance of proposed park homes with the Residential Design Codes as well as the Caravan Parks and Camping Grounds Regulations 1997".

- The local planning scheme amendment was advertised from 3 December 2015 to 21 January 2016 for public comment and referred to public authorities in accordance with the requirements of the *Planning and Development (Local Planning Schemes) Regulations 2015.*
- A total of six submissions were received during the advertising period. Three submission were received from public authorities and three from members of the public.
- City planning Staff support the proposal, as it is consistent with the strategic direction set in the *Albany Local Planning Strategy*.
- The proposal will allow the management of the approved 'Grouped Dwelling' development on the subject lot as a 'Park Home Park' or 'lifestyle village', while ensuring that the development is to a permanent residential standard, in accordance with the *Residential Design Codes*.
- Council is requested to consider the submissions received following public advertising and referral and to support the local planning scheme amendment.

RECOMMENDATION

PD117: COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION

MOVED: COUNCILLOR SUTTON SECONDED: COUNCILLOR HAMMOND

THAT the Responsible Officer Recommendation be ADOPTED.

CARRIED 6-0

PD117: RESPONSIBLE OFFICER RECOMMENDATION

THAT Council:

- 1. Pursuant to section 75 of the *Planning and Development Act 2005*, resolves to <u>support, without modification</u>, <u>Amendment No. 16</u> to amend *City of Albany Local Planning Scheme No. 1* by:
 - (1) Modifying Schedule 4 Special Use Zones No. SU17, Condition 1 to include 'Park Home Park' as a land use with 'D' permissibility; and
 - (2) Modifying Schedule 4 Special Use Zones No. SU17, to insert a new Condition 6 stating 'The development of the Park Home Park use will be subject to demonstrating compliance of proposed park homes with the *Residential Design Codes* as well as the *Caravan Parks and Camping Grounds Regulations 1997*'.

2. RECOMMENDS to the Western Australian Planning Commission that the scheme amendment report is modified to improve its consistency with other legislation and include sections addressing *Planning Bulletin 49 – Caravan Parks* and *Planning Bulletin 71 – Residential Leasehold Estates and Development*.

BACKGROUND

- 4. Local Planning Scheme No. 1 was gazetted on 28 April 2014 and consists of the Scheme Text and the Scheme Maps. The Scheme divides the Local Government district into zones to identify areas for particular uses and identifies land reserved for public purposes. Most importantly, the Scheme controls the types of uses and development allowed in different zones. There are particular controls included for heritage and special control areas. The Scheme Text also sets out the requirements for planning approval, enforcement of the Scheme provisions and non-conforming uses.
- 5. Amendment No. 16 has been prepared to seek modifications to Schedule 4 Special Use Zones No. SU17 to include 'Park Home Park' as a land use with 'D' permissibility under Condition 1, and to insert a new Condition 6 stating that:

"The development of the Park Home Park use will be subject to demonstrating compliance of proposed park homes with the Residential Design Codes as well as the Caravan Parks and Camping Grounds Regulations 1997".

- 6. The subject lots are located approximately 1.1 kilometres north-west of Albany town centre and have an area of approximately 2.7 hectares. The land is relatively flat, with a very slight fall to the north, toward Yakamia Creek. An area of approximately 6000m² is occupied on the south-eastern corner of the lot by an existing indoor volleyball centre and associated car park. The north-eastern portion of the site is currently being developed with 'Grouped Dwellings', using transportable units.
- 7. The subject lot is separated from the lots to the west by an open drain that feeds into Yakamia Creek, and is covered by the 'Parks and Recreation' local scheme reserve. The three lots to the west of the drain are zoned, from north to south, as 'Special Use' (No. SU16), 'Tourist Residential' with an R30/50 split density code and 'Caravan and Camping'. These lots are developed with a place of worship, a park home park and a caravan park respectively. The land to the south of the subject lot is zoned 'Regional Centre Mixed Business' and most lots are developed with light industrial units. The land to the east of the subject lot is zoned 'Light Industry' and developed with a mixture of commercial and light industrial land uses. The land to the north is covered by the 'Parks and Recreation' local scheme reserve and is developed with the Albany Leisure and Aquatic Centre, a public car park and sports ovals.
- 8. The amendment document states that:

"The purpose of the proposal is to simplify the management of the subject site in the long term and not to modify the form of development that will eventuate. In simple terms, the difference between a grouped dwelling and park home park is summarised in the following:

- Within a park home park, the owner of the park will pay for the ownership of the park home, with a lease being paid to the manager for upkeep of common area and facilities as well as the use of the site. It is then the manager's responsibility to organise park home park maintenance.
- Within a grouped dwelling, each of the dwellings can either be leased and remain under a single ownership, or should a survey-strata subdivision be completed, each of the individual units can be owned as a separate entity. An annual payment is made to the body corporate for upkeep and maintenance of the facility.

The predominant benefit of a park home park is that it is a lock and leave facility. In most cases, all gardens and common areas are managed separate to the owners of the park homes, thus removing responsibility and providing for a well maintained facility in the long run. This type of development is well suited to retirees, as it enables them to have a home at a relatively cheap price, whilst allowing them to leave and travel should they wish. In many cases, park home park development results in better management and maintenance of landscaping and infrastructure to ensure that the whole complex maintains a high amenity at all times, which is not always achieved in large grouped housing development with individual strata owners.

Within a survey-strata subdivision, the arrangement can be more complicated. These properties are normally managed by a body corporate, which is usually composed of owners, who arrange and determine maintenance, manage the budget of spending to be undertaken and other tasks. In a park home park, this is all managed separate to the owners of the dwellings, whilst still allowing them to own and occupy a permanent home".

DISCUSSION

- 9. The City's planning Staff support the proposed modifications to Schedule 4 Special Use Zones No. SU17. The modifications will allow the management of the approved 'Grouped Dwellings', utilising transportable units, as a 'Park Home Park' or 'lifestyle village', while ensuring that the development is to permanent residential standards, in accordance with the *Residential Design Codes*. The proponent has outlined the various benefits to the 'lifestyle village' model, rather than a more traditional 'Grouped Dwelling' development:
 - The development of the site as a 'lifestyle village' will facilitate the provision of communal facilities, such as a clubhouse. It will also allow the establishment of a village park liaison committee that would maintain better standards for the village, consider the use of facilities, such as a clubhouse, organise activities for residents, etc.
 - 'Lifestyle villages' are administered under the *Residential Parks (Long-stay Tenants) Act 2006*, which provides clearer guidance for both the operator and tenants in terms of obligations and benefits. The Act provides more clearly for 'park rules' to be made for the communal benefit of the residents and may address matters such as noise management, parking and the use of communal areas.
 - Home alterations and additions can be controlled more effectively through the 'lifestyle village' model, by setting rules and requirements. The proponent considers that this more effective form of management will lead to higher standards of design and residential amenity.
 - The 'lifestyle village' model can allow residents to access rent assistance, dependent on their circumstances.
- 10. The proponent has also stated that the developer has no intention to run 'short-stay' or caravan park-style rental. The intention is to develop the site as a 'lifestyle village' comprising long-term tenants who own their home, but lease the home site. The tenants will be owner-occupiers and have a vested interest in how the development is managed.
- 11. The proposal is considered to be consistent with the current strategic direction set by the *Albany Local Planning Strategy*, which identifies the site as part of the 'City Centre' area and sets a strategic objective to support urban infill development based on compatibility of land uses and infrastructure capacity. The Strategy states that it is expected that the Albany City Centre will support new medium-density (R30 to R60) residential developments.
- 12. After informal discussion with the Department of Planning, the City requested that the proponent refine the scheme amendment report and include additional sections

addressing the objectives of *Planning Bulletin 49 – Caravan Parks* and *Planning Bulletin 71 – Residential Leasehold Estates and Development*. The proponent has submitted a draft revised scheme amendment report addressing these matters, and it is recommended that Council make a recommendation to the Western Australian Planning Commission that the scheme amendment report is modified accordingly.

GOVERNMENT & PUBLIC CONSULTATION

- 13. The amendment was advertised in accordance with the requirements of the *Planning and Development (Local Planning Schemes) Regulations 2015* from 3 December 2015 to 21 January 2016 by direct referral to affected and adjoining/nearby landowners and public authorities, and advertisement in the local newspaper.
- 14. The three submissions received from public authorities during the advertising and referral process did not raise any objection to the proposal.
- 15. A further three submissions were received from the developers of the lifestyle village, expressing support for the amendment.

STATUTORY IMPLICATIONS

- 16. Scheme amendments undergo a statutory process in accordance with the *Planning and Development Act 2005* and *Planning and Development (Local Planning Schemes) Regulations 2015.*
- 17. Section 75 of the *Planning and Development Act 2005* allows a local government authority to amend its local planning scheme with the approval of the Minister for Planning.
- 18. Regulation 50(3) of the *Planning and Development (Local Planning Schemes) Regulations 2015* allows Council to support a standard amendment, with or without modification.
- 19. Voting requirement for this item is **SIMPLE MAJORITY**

POLICY IMPLICATIONS

20. There are no policy implications directly relating to this item.

RISK IDENTIFICATION & MITIGATION

21. The risk identification and categorisation relies on the City's Enterprise Risk Management Framework.

Risk	Likelihood	Consequence	Risk Analysis	Mitigation
Organisational Operations and Reputation The proposal may not be accepted by the Western Australian Planning Commission or the Minister for Planning.	Possible	Minor	Medium	If not supported by the WAPC or Minister, the amendment will not be progressed and the City will advise the proponent that they may submit a modified proposal. No objections from Government Agencies or Public received.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

22. There are no financial implications directly relating to this item.

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

23. There are no legal implications directly relating to this item.

ENVIRONMENTAL CONSIDERATIONS

24. There are no environmental issues affecting this proposal. The undeveloped portion of the subject lot is cleared of native vegetation and covered in grass. Stormwater drainage and its potential impact on Yakamia Creek has been addressed as a component of the development application for the approved 'Grouped Dwellings' on the northern portion of the lot. The lot is connected to reticulated sewer.

ALTERNATE OPTIONS

- 25. Council has the following alternate options in relation to this item, which are:
 - To resolve to support the scheme amendment without modification; or
 - To resolve not to support the scheme amendment and advise the Western Australian Planning Commission, in writing, of the reasons for doing so.

SUMMARY CONCLUSION

26. It is recommended that Council adopt Local Planning Scheme Amendment No. 16, as the proposal is consistent with the current strategic direction set within the *Albany Local Planning Strategy* and will allow the management of the approved 'Grouped Dwellings' as a 'Park Home Park' or 'lifestyle village', while ensuring that the development is to a permanent residential standard, in accordance with the *Residential Design Codes*.

Consulted References	:	 Local Planning Scheme No. 1 Albany Local Planning Strategy 2010 City of Albany Strategic Community Plan 2023 City of Corporate Business Plan 2013-2017 Western Australian Planning Commission State Planning Policy 1 – State Planning Framework Policy (Variation No. 2)
File Number (Name of Ward)	:	LAMD16 (Frederickstown Ward)
Previous Reference	:	O.C.M. 27/10/2015 – Item PD099

PD118: CONSIDERATION OF MODIFICATIONS TO THE BIG GROVE OUTLINE DEVELOPMENT PLAN

Land Description	:	Lot 2, 887 Frenchman Bay Road, Big Grove
Proponent	:	Gordon G Smith
Owner	:	G E Vasiliu
Business Entity Name	:	Nil
Attachments	:	Modified Outline Development Plan document
Supplementary Information &	:	Copy of submissions
Councillor Workstation		
Report prepared by	:	Planning Officer (C McMurtrie)
Responsible Officer:	:	Executive Director Planning and Development (D Putland)
Responsible Officer's Signature):	DaleRM

STRATEGIC IMPLICATIONS

- 1. Council is required to exercise its quasi-judicial function in this matter.
- 2. When exercising its discretion in relation to planning matters, the pertinent strategic document is the *Albany Local Planning Strategy*.
- 3. This proposal is inconsistent with the strategic direction set in the *Albany Local Planning Strategy*, as it seeks to create residential lots without full urban services, specifically reticulated sewer.

Maps and Diagrams:



In Brief:

- A request was submitted to Council to consider modifications to the *Big Grove Outline Development Plan*. The proposed modifications seek to identify a portion of Lot 2, 887
 Frenchman Bay Road, Big Grove as suitable for subdivision to the Residential R5 density code (minimum lot size 2000m²), rather than the indicated R10 (minimum lot size 1000m²), and to remove the requirement for all new lots to be connected to reticulated sewer.
- The proposed modifications were advertised from 17 December 2015 to 14 January 2016 for public comment and referred to public authorities, in accordance with the requirements of the *Planning and Development (Local Planning Schemes) Regulations 2015.*
- A total of five submissions were received during the advertising period. Four submissions were received from public authorities and one from a member of the public. These submissions are discussed in detail in paragraphs 15. To 19. It is not a statutory requirement to present them in a schedule.
- City Planning staff do not support the proposal, as it is:
 - o Inconsistent with the strategic direction set within the Albany Local Planning Strategy;
 - May adversely impact the viability of development within the balance of the *Big Grove Outline Development Plan* area; and
 - Could create an unwanted precedent leading to other developers seeking to subdivide the land to larger lots, without reticulated sewer, eroding the intent of the *Big Grove Outline Development Plan*.
- Council is requested to consider the submissions received following public advertising and referral and to recommend to the Western Australian Planning Commission that it does not support the proposed modifications to the *Big Grove Outline Development Plan* for the reasons outlined above.

RECOMMENDATION

PD118:COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION	
MOVED: COUNCILLOR SUTTON SECONDED: COUNCILLOR GOODE	
THAT the Responsible Officer Recommendation be ADOPTED.	
	CARRIED 5-1
Councillor Hammond voted against the recommendation.	

PROCEDURAL MOTION:

MOVED: COUNCILLOR HAMMOND SECONDED: COUNCILLOR GOODE

THAT this report be deferred and represented at the April 2016 OCM.

Lost 1-5

Councillors Sutton, Shanhun, Stocks, Hollingworth and Goode voted against the motion.

PD118: RESPONSIBLE OFFICER RECOMMENDATION

THAT Council:

RESOLVES to recommend to the Western Australian Planning Commission that it does not approve the modifications to the *Big Grove Outline Development Plan*, for the following reasons:

- The proposal is inconsistent with the strategic direction set within the *Albany Local Planning Strategy*, as it seeks to create residential lots without full urban services;
- Removal of the requirement to connect to reticulated sewer may adversely impact the viability of development within the balance of the *Big Grove Outline Development Plan* area; and
- Permitting larger (2000m²+) lots within the *Big Grove Outline Development Plan* area, without reticulated sewer, could create an unwanted precedent leading to other developers seeking to subdivide the land in the same fashion, eroding the intent of the Plan.

BACKGROUND

- 4. At its Ordinary Meeting on 16 August 2011, Council adopted the *Big Grove Outline Development Plan*, which was designed to facilitate staged development of the area. The Outline Development Plan report proposes:
 - Ultimate development potential of between 800 and 1000 residential dwellings, the majority traditional residential lots of R17.5 density;
 - A number of larger rural residential lots within the water protection area and R10 sites on the eastern and western edges;
 - Some areas of R25 cottage lots and R30 grouped dwellings in locations of highest amenity;
 - A primary school and village centre which maximises access to passing trade along Frenchman Bay Road;
 - An increased foreshore reserve of around 80 metres. The foreshore area is to be upgraded as each abutting owner develops in accordance with a Foreshore Management Plan (subject to the approval of the City), incorporating landscape enhancement, best practice foreshore management and a dual use path;
 - A potential low key foreshore node and mixed use development on the foreshore (subject to further design detail and approvals);
 - A modified grid road layout, footpaths and cycle facilities to maximise permeability and access, with key routes leading down to and focussing on the harbour frontage;
 - A public open space landscape buffer along Frenchman Bay Road to limit the visual impact of the development along this route and maintain the vegetated, semi-rural character of the area;
 - Provision of approximately 11.05 hectares creditable public open space (12.38 hectares total including non-creditable public open space), of differing types and attributes, in addition to the foreshore, and being 1.16 hectares in excess of the 10% public open space requirement.
 - Retention of important environmental features including stands of karris on Lots 1, 2 and 110, possum habitat and vegetation linkages to surrounding reserves, as well as further opportunities for better quality remnant vegetation in open space areas and landscaping of road reserves;
 - Fire protection zones around the periphery of the site, and abutting retained vegetation;

- Design guidelines to maintain the semi-rural and tourism character and limit visual impact;
- Contemporary urban water management including integrated drainage swales in open space, use of water-wise plantings, and provision of rainwater tanks to lot purchasers to promote rainwater harvesting.
- 5. The Plan was subsequently endorsed by the Western Australian Planning Commission on 2 May 2012.

DISCUSSION

- 6. The subject land is located approximately 6.8 kilometres south-south-east of Albany town centre and has an area of approximately 9.4 hectares. The land has very gently sloping topography and is largely covered by vegetation, comprised of two clusters of remnant natural bush and a large eucalypt plantation. A small part of the lot, at its northern extent, has been cleared and developed with a single house and associated outbuildings.
- 7. The subject land is generally surrounded by 'Parks and Recreation' local scheme reserves, with the exception of the 'Future Urban' zoned lots to the west, which comprise the remainder of the *Big Grove Outline Development Plan* area.
- 8. The proposed modifications to the *Big Grove Outline Development Plan* have been prepared to identify a portion of Lot 2, 887 Frenchman Bay Road, Big Grove as suitable for subdivision to the Residential R5 density code (minimum lot size 2000m²), rather than the presently indicated R10 (minimum lot size 1000m²), and to remove the requirement for all new lots to be connected to reticulated sewer.
- 9. The proponent has stated that:

"In essence the submission seeks modification to the Text and Map of the Big Grove Outline Development Plan such that it will provide for the subdivision of that part of Lot 2, coded R10 in that Plan, into lots of 2000m²+ without the need to connect to a reticulated sewerage service as presently required."

- 10. The proposed modifications to the *Big Grove Outline Development Plan* are inconsistent with the strategic direction set in the *Albany Local Planning Strategy*, which identifies the Outline Development Plan area for the development of a fully-serviced urban expansion.
- 11. Modification of the Plan to allow for the subdivision of lots to the Residential R5 density code (minimum lot size 2000m²), and for those lots to utilise on-site effluent disposal systems, will result in a greater proportion of the cost of a sewer network expansion being pushed onto adjoining landowners, adversely impacting the viability of developing the wider area to a fully-serviced urban standard.
- 12. Permitting the proposed modifications may also set an unwanted precedent for the creation of larger, un-serviced lots in the area, leading to other landowners to seek subdivision in the same fashion, eroding the intent of the *Big Grove Outline Development Plan*. This would also further undermine cost-sharing arrangements to provide an extension of the sewer network to service new lots.
- 13. Due to recent regulatory changes, introduced by the *Planning and Development (Local Planning Schemes) Regulations 2015* on 19 October 2015, a structure plan can no longer implement an R-Code and the Western Australian Planning Commission is only required to have due regard to a structure plan when determining an application for subdivision. On this basis, the proponent may lodge a subdivision seeking to vary the provisions of the *Big Grove Outline Development Plan*.
- 14. Due to the concerns raised in this report, planning Staff recommend that Council does not support the proposed modifications to the *Big Grove Outline Development Plan*.

GOVERNMENT & PUBLIC CONSULTATION

- 15. The proposed modifications to the *Big Grove Outline Development Plan* were advertised in accordance with the requirements of Schedule 2, Part 4, clause 18 of the *Planning and Development (Local Planning Schemes) Regulations 2015*, from 17 December 2015 to 14 January 2016 by direct referral to affected and adjoining/nearby landowners and public authorities.
- 16. The four submissions received from public authorities during the advertising and referral process did not raise any objection to the proposal. The Department of Health has advised that any future development to the R17.5 density coding should be connected to reticulated sewer. The Department of Water has advised that any development that is not connected to reticulated sewer should utilise alternative treatment units for on-site effluent disposal, to avoid nutrient export to Princess Royal Harbour.
- 17. Only one public submission was received, on behalf of an adjoining landowner, which raises a number of issues that can be summarised as follows:
 - a) Our client is generally supportive of low density (R5) subdivision with on-site effluent disposal occurring on the subject site.
 - b) The proposed modifications do not acknowledge or respect the approved east-west connector road network between Lot 2 and Lot 1. The approved *Big Grove Outline Development Plan* shows six roads connecting the two lots, however the modifications proposed show only two points of connection – one to the north and one to the south of Lot 2.
 - c) The approved *Big Grove Outline Development Plan* incorporates a cul-de-sac to the north of Lot 2, providing public access to the future foreshore reserve. This is the sole connection for public access to the eastern foreshore of Big Grove, and also provides road frontage to the adjoining medium density R30 precinct.
 - d) The modifications to *Big Grove Outline Development Plan* show the cul-de-sac to Lot 2 deleted, and this area being included within a homestead lot. This will result in no public access to the future foreshore reserve being available. Furthermore, access to this future foreshore reserve will become exclusive to residents of the proposed homestead lot.
 - e) There are no connecting roads from Frenchman Bay Road to Lot 2 currently constructed or proposed to be constructed in the modifications to the *Big Grove Outline Development Plan*. Irrespective of the timeframes for development, should subdivision of Lot 2 be sought prior to subdivision of our client's land, it will result in Lots with no access to or from Frenchman Bay Road.
 - f) Appendix 3A and 3B of the proposed modifications show removal of the medium density residential precinct located to the northern portion of Lot 2 abutting the future foreshore reserve, with this area incorporated into a larger homestead lot.
 - g) This is one of only two medium density residential precincts within the entire *Big Grove Outline Development Plan.* Removal of this precinct and replacement with a homestead lot would reduce the diversity of lot mix, impact on affordability, reduce efficient use of the land, and compromise the overall intention and amenity of the *Big Grove Outline Development Plan*.
 - h) It is unclear from Appendix 3A and 3B if the modifications to the submission respect, or include, the approved future foreshore reserve, road network, DAP requirement and medium density residential area located to the northern portion of Lot 2.
 - i) The notation *"Homestead Lot as per ODP"*, is vague and uncertain. The *Big Grove Outline Development Plan*, supporting studies and documentation neither support nor propose a

homestead lot to the subject site. Removal of these elements of the *Big Grove Outline Development Plan* would not be supported, as outlined in earlier sections of this submission.

- j) In addition to the future foreshore reserve, the proposed modifications also exclude the "Physical Process and Foreshore Reserve Setback Required by the Department of Planning".
- k) Our client does not object to an amendment to the Outline Development Plan reducing residential densities from R10 to R5, or this portion of Lot 2 not being serviced by reticulated sewer; however, the submission prepared by Gordon Smith for modifications to the *Big Grove Outline Development Plan* ignores or omits various other elements that provide important functions within the approved *Big Grove Outline Development Plan*.
- I) Any alterations to the approved layout including road network, residential precincts or foreshore reserve would be opposed for reasons outlined within this submission.
- m) Furthermore, the *Big Grove Outline Development Plan* requires our client's land (Lot 1) to be subdivided prior to subdivision of Lot 2 to enable vehicle access to Lot 2. The proposed modifications appear to 'leapfrog' orderly and proper planning and risk compromising the overall intention of the *Big Grove Outline Development Plan*.
- 18. The proponent has submitted a response to the comments received during consultation, emphasising that the only modifications proposed to the *Big Grove Outline Development* plan are:
 - Reduction in the allocated R10 R-Code density to R5; and
 - Removal of the provision requiring all development within the Outline Development Plan area to be connected to reticulated sewer to be removed, insofar as it relates to Lot 2, 887 Frenchman Bay Road.
- 19. The proponent states that the in-principle support offered by the adjoining land owner is welcomed, but contends that the other matters raised in the submission are not relevant to the proposal, as the diagrams submitted in support of the modifications are schematic only and do not necessarily indicate a proposed subdivision layout.

STATUTORY IMPLICATIONS

- 20. Regulation 79 of the *Planning and Development (Local Planning Schemes) Regulations 2015* states that:
 - "(1) A planning instrument made under the Act before commencement day and in accordance with the repealed regulations or a State planning policy continues in force as if it were a planning instrument of the same type made under the Act in accordance with these regulations.
 - (2) For the purposes of sub regulation (1), an instrument of a type referred to in column 2 of the Table is to be taken to be a planning instrument of the type referred to in column 3 of the Table."

ltem	Type of Instrument	Type of planning instrument
1.	Outline development plan	Structure Plan
	Development plan	

	Subdivision guide plan	
2.	Activity centre structure plan	Activity centre plan
З.	Detailed area plan	Local development plan

- 21. Amendments to structure plans undergo a statutory process in accordance with Schedule 2, Part 4 of the *Planning and Development (Local Planning Schemes) Regulations 2015.*
- 22. Schedule 2, Part 4, clause 19(1) requires the local government to consider the submissions made within the period specified in the notice advertising the structure plan.
- 23. Schedule 2, Part 4, clause 20 requires the local government to prepare a report to the Western Australian Planning Commission, including a recommendation on whether the proposed structure plan should be approved by the Commission.
- 24. Voting requirement for this item is **SIMPLE MAJORITY**

POLICY IMPLICATIONS

25. There are no policy implications directly relating to this item.

RISK IDENTIFICATION & MITIGATION

26. The following risk matrix is presented for consideration:

Risk	Likelihood	Consequence	Risk Analysis	Mitigation
Organisational Operations and Reputation Noting that structure plans are no longer binding, the <i>Big Grove</i> <i>Outline Development</i> <i>Plan</i> may not be given due regard by developers during the subdivision process.	Likely	Moderate	Medium	The Big Grove Outline Development Plan is based on sound planning principles. Any further variation or request to deviate from the Plan would be assessed against the intent of the Plan and relevant Western Australian Planning Commission Development Control Policies.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

27. There are no financial implications directly relating to this item.

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

28. There are no legal implications directly relating to this item.

ENVIRONMENTAL CONSIDERATIONS

29. The subject lot is located approximately 6.8 kilometres south-south-east of Albany town centre. It has an area of approximately 9.4 hectares and slopes gradually downward from south to north between Frenchman Bay Road and the Princess Royal Harbour foreshore reserve. The lot is mostly vegetated, with a band of remnant natural bush fronting Frenchman Bay Road, a eucalypt plantation behind, covering approximately half of the lot area, and another band of

remnant natural bush beyond. The remaining portion of the lot, nearest the harbour, has been cleared and developed with a single house and two associated outbuildings. These stand immediately adjacent to the eastern lot boundary and are accessed by a constructed gravel driveway that follows the fence line from Frenchman Bay Road.

30. The environmental implications of the *Big Grove Outline Development Plan* have been previously assessed. The proposed modifications do not introduce any new issues, other than the potential for nutrient export to Princess Royal Harbour, should on-site effluent disposal systems be permitted on new lots. However, the Department of Water has advised that this could be mitigated by the use of alternative treatment units for effluent disposal.

ALTERNATE OPTIONS

- 31. Council may consider alternate options in relation to this item, such as:
 - Recommending to the Western Australian Planning Commission that it approves the proposed modifications to the *Big Grove Outline Development Plan*.

SUMMARY CONCLUSION

- 32. It is recommended that Council recommend to the Western Australian Planning Commission that it does not support the proposed modifications to the *Big Grove Outline Development Plan*, as they are:
 - Inconsistent with the strategic direction set within the Albany Local Planning Strategy;
 - May adversely impact the viability of development within the balance of the *Big Grove Outline Development Plan* area; and
 - Could create an unwanted precedent, leading to other developers seeking to subdivide the land in the same fashion, eroding the intent of the *Big Grove Outline Development Plan*.

Consulted References	:	1. Local Planning Scheme No. 1		
		2. Albany Local Planning Strategy 2010		
		3. City of Albany Strategic Community Plan 2023		
		4. City of Corporate Business Plan 2013-2017		
		5. WA Planning Commission State Planning Policy 1 –		
		State Planning Framework Policy (Variation No. 2)		
		6. Big Grove Outline Development Plan		
File Number (Name of Ward)	:	LSP2 (Vancouver Ward)		
Previous Reference	:	O.C.M. 14/10/2010 – Item 1.3		
		O.C.M. 21/06/2011 – Item 2.3 (item withdrawn)		
		O.C.M. 16/08/2011 – Item 2.2		

- 14. NEW BUSINESS OF AN URGENT NATURE INTRODUCED BY DECISION OF COUNCIL Nil
- 15. MOTIONS OF WHICH PREVIOUS NOTICE HAS BEEN GIVEN Nil
- 16. REPORTS OF CITY OFFICERS Nil
- 17. MEETING CLOSED TO PUBLIC Nil
- 18. CLOSURE <u>6:41:16 PM</u>

APPENDIX A

TABLED DOCUMENTS

NAME	REFERENCE	FILE
Gordon Smith	PD118	LP.MEE.1/AM1652355

POINTS TO BE RAISED WITH THE CITY OF ALBANY PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE AT ITS MEETING TO BE HELD ON WEDNESDAY 2ND MARCH 2016

Reference is made to Agenda Item No PD 118 – Consideration of Modifications to the Big Grove Outline Development Plan (BGODP) insofar as it relates to Part of Lot 2 [No 887] Frenchman Bay Road, Big Grove. (In referring to "the land" in this presentation reference is made to that portion of Lot 2 presently covered by a low density coding of R10 as shown on that Plan)

The fact that the report does not include a copy of the Big Grove Outline Development Plan does not assist readers of report in their understanding of what land is being referred to in the original submission.

It is submitted that the report on this item is incomplete requiring Councillors to determine the issue with only some, but not all of the considerations relevant to the issue and fails to address a number of significant issues which, if given their correct planning weight and consideration would lead to a conclusion different to that in the report and recommendation.

The report fails to address most of the following points:-

- a) The land, presently classified as suitable for low density subdivision with a density Coding of R 10, can already be subdivided (subject to Western Australian Planning Commission approval) to any density up to that maximum, with no requirement to meet that maximum;
- b) This low density coding of R10 applied under the Big Grove Outline Development Plan was due to the fact that adjoining natural bushland on land in public ownership had been identified as presenting an extreme bush fire hazard. As a result, the BGODP requires a 40m setback from this hazard.

The submission made to Council goes into detail, (with the provision of comparative diagrammatic plans (not apparently included in the report) on how it is physically impossible, and certainly impractical to subdivide the land up to the R10 density i.e minimum lot size of 1000m². Even at a lot size of 1500m² the resultant lots are poorly shaped with very little of the now-required Fire Building Protection Zones capable of being contained within each lot.

With the application of the far more stringent Bushfire precautions introduced since the BGODP was prepared and adopted, it is becoming apparent that the Building Protection Zones of 20m around each new dwelling in fire prone areas are increasingly not being permitted to overlap onto adjoining properties. Even at

an R5 density, where far less overlapping would occur than at R10 density, it is uncertain whether even lot sizes of 2500m² can be achieved (i.e. R4).

- c) No mention is made of the fact that no-one has apparently raised any objection to the core proposal in this submission particularly the removal of the sewerage requirement not the Water Corporation, the Health Department, the Department of Water nor the adjoining land owners (whose interests would include the viability of extending sewerage facilities to their land).
- d) No mention is made of the fact that a reticulated sewerage service is some 2km distant from the land and, economically, could not possibly be extended to service the land.
- e) The Local Planning Strategy states the key element of its Infrastructure Servicing Strategy is to 'increase progressively the coverage of the deep-sewerage network to facilitate urban expansion'. As noted in Paragraph g) below, subdivision at a density of R5 or below does not qualify as "urban development" allowing other forms of septic effluent disposal to be considered. Reticulated sewerage is impractical because of the remoteness of the existing service (2km distant) and also on economic grounds, even if it were closer.
- f) The report does not address the existence of the State Government's Draft Country Sewerage Policy and its provisions that, under circumstances met by this proposal, subdivision into lots of 2000m² can be approved without the need to provide reticulated sewerage. (Of note in the preparation of the original draft of the Policy was the fact that it is neither economic to provide reticulated sewerage at that density nor is it economic to the Water Corporation to maintain such a service once installed because costs outweigh revenue generated.) Also the Local Planning Strategy states that 'Onsite effluent disposal is appropriate for areas which cannot be deep sewered'. By virtue of the foregoing, it is argued that the subject land cannot be deep sewered.
- g) Application of the overarching statements of the Local Planning Strategy with respect to the provision of fully sewered urban developments within areas such as Big Grove without recognising factors that prevent subdivision to a density that falls within the definition of Urban classification in that Strategy and then arguing failure to comply is a misapplication of the provisions of that document.
- h) As a corollary of not being able to subdivide the land into lots of less than 2000m² or even 2500m² (either now or into the future; present circumstances prevailing) the land will not then lie within the definition of the "Urban classification" of the Strategy and, therefore, can be considered for servicing by means other than reticulated sewerage.

- i) The factors (i.e. a 40m building setback from eastern boundary, the provision of a new road and the provision of space on each lot to accommodate 20m Building Protection Zones around dwellings) forced upon the land owner result in the land only being able to be subdivided into 16 (or fewer) large lots well over 2000m². This number of potential new dwellings represents only approximately 1.6% of the potential development of the BGODP which will have only a minimal effect on the viability of the overall development of ODP area when developed. In addition, the subject land has the extra costs of implementing a fire management plan which also benefits and protects the rest of the BGODP area.
- j) As to precedent, the proposal is already within a different R Coding classification to most of the balance of the BGODP which will still be suitable for urban development given the protection provided by the low-density subdivision on the land referred to in this submission. The present proposal is, therefore, subject to different constraints over subdivision, distinguishing it from other parts of that Plan. Consequently, there is no valid precedent argument as the circumstances are not replicated exactly elsewhere within the BGODP. Thus the precedent argument in this case does not satisfy the State Administrative Tribunal's criteria for valid precedents which are set out in the original submission.

Gordon G Smith

26th February 2016



k







ATTACHMENTS

Planning and Development Committee Meeting

02 MARCH 2016

6.00pm

City of Albany Council Chambers

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Attachment	Report No.	Description	Page No.
Α		Planning & Development Committee	
	PD117	CONSIDERATION OF SCHEME AMENDMENT – LOT 734 BARKER ROAD, CENTENNIAL PARK	1
	PD118	CONSIDERATION OF MODIFICATIONS TO THE BIG GROVE OUTLINE DEVELOPMENT PLAN	20

REPORT ITEM PD117 REFERS

		CITY OF ALBANY LOCAL P		IIEWIPDII/ REFERS	
	AMENDMENT No. 16				
		SCHEDULE OF SUBMISSIO	NS AND MODIFICATIONS		
No.	Name/Address of Submitter	Summary of Submission	Officer Comment	Staff Recommendation	
1	Environmental Protection Authority Locked Bag 33 Cloisters Square PERTH WA 6850	The Environmental Protection Authority (EPA) considers that the proposed scheme amendment should not be assessed under Part IV Division 3 of the <i>Environmental Protection Act 1986</i> (EP Act) and that it is not necessary to provide any advice or recommendations.	Nil.	The submission of no recommendation necessary is noted.	
2	Telstra Locked Bag 2525 PERTH WA 6001	Telstra has no objection.	Nil.	The submission of no objection is noted.	
3	Water Corporation PO Box 100 LEEDERVILLE WA 6902	The Water Corporation has no objection.	Nil.	The submission of support is noted.	
'Park Home Par permissibility, a Village to operate this amendment a wider communit enable a superior will undertake landscaping and residents as it allo their home, whil home and gard management. T use will also allo		The proposed amendment looks to include 'Park Home Park' as a land use with 'D' permissibility, allowing Boronia Gardens Village to operate under this use. I support this amendment as I see it as a benefit to the wider community. The amendment will enable a superior management structure that will undertake consistent, quality landscaping and maintenance. This benefits residents as it allows them to 'lock and leave' their home, whilst having surety that their home and garden will be maintained by management. The 'Park Home Park' land use will also allow for greater provision of communal facilities for residents.	Nil.	The submission of support is noted.	

AMENDMENT No. 16 SCHEDULE OF SUBMISSIONS AND MODIFICATIONS Name/Address Summary of Submission No. of **Officer Comment** Staff Submitter Recommendation This development and the associated amendment provides the ageing community of Albany with an affordable, high-quality living option that has not been addressed in the area. On the basis that this amendment has no significant environmental, social or economic impacts, I wholeheartedly support Council's recommendation to administer this amendment. Portstyle Enterprises Pty The proposed amendment looks to include Nil. 5 The submission of support is noted. Ltd (J Richards) 'Park Home Park' as a land use with 'D' PO Box 235 permissibility, allowing Boronia Gardens NORTH PERTH WA Village to operate under this use. I support this amendment as I see it as a benefit to the 6906 wider community. The amendment will enable a superior management structure that will undertake consistent. quality landscaping and maintenance. This benefits residents as it allows them to 'lock and leave' their home, whilst having surety that their home and garden will be maintained by management. The 'Park Home Park' land use will also allow for greater provision of communal facilities for residents. This development and the associated amendment provides the ageing community of Albany with an affordable, high-quality living option that has not been addressed in the area. On the basis that this amendment has no significant environmental, social or

CITY OF ALBANY LOCAL PLANNING SCHEME No. REPORT ITEM PD117 REFERS

		CITY OF ALBANY LOCAL F	PLANNING SCHEME No.REPC	ORT ITEM PD117 REFERS	
	AMENDMENT No. 16				
	T	SCHEDULE OF SUBMISSIO			
No.	Name/Address of Submitter	Summary of Submission	Officer Comment	Staff Recommendation	
		economic impacts, I wholeheartedly support Council's recommendation to administer this amendment.			
6	Council's recommendation to administer this amendment.		Nil.	The submission of support is noted.	

REPORT ITEM PD117 REFERS



PLANNING & SURVEY SOLUTIONS

Amendment No.16

City of Albany Local Planning Scheme No.1

Lot 734 (No.33) Barker Road, Centennial Park

Special Use Site No.17

Prepared by Harley Dykstra Pty Ltd for Portstyle Enterprises Pty Ltd

ALBANY

116 Serpentine Road, Albany WA 6332 T: 08 9841 7333 E: albany@harleydykstra.com.au PO Box 5207, Albany WA 6332

F: 08 9841 3643

www.harleydykstra.com.au



Albany Bunbury Busselton Kelmscott Perth ACN 009 101 786 ABN 77 503 764 248

FS 536019

REPORT ITEM PD117 REFERS

Form 2A

Planning and Development Act 2005

RESOLUTION TO ADOPT AMENDMENT TO LOCAL PLANNING SCHEME

CITY OF ALBANY LOCAL PLANNING SCHEME No. 1, SCHEME AMENDMENT No. 16

Resolved that the local government pursuant to section 75 of the Planning and Development Act 2005, amend the above Local Planning Scheme by:

- (1) Modifying Schedule 4 Special Use Zones No. SU17, Condition 1 to include 'Park Home Park' as a land use with 'D' permissibility; and
- (2) Modifying Schedule 4 Special Use Zones No. SU17, to insert a new Condition 6 stating 'The development of the Park Home Park use will be subject to demonstrating compliance of proposed park homes with the Residential Design Codes as well as the Caravan Parks and Camping Grounds Regulations 1997'.

The Amendment is standard under the provisions of the Planning and Development (Local Planning Schemes) Regulations 2015 for the following reason(s):

- The amendment is consistent with the objective identified in the scheme for the zone, which is to provide for residential or tourist residential uses;
- The amendment is consistent with the Albany Local Planning Strategy, which identifies the site as part of the 'City Centre' area and sets a strategic objective to support urban infill development based on compatibility of land uses and infrastructure capacity; and
- The amendment does not result in any significant environmental, social, economic or governance impacts on land in the scheme area.

Dated this......20.....

..... (Chief Executive Officer)



DOCUMENT CONTROL

Control Version	DATE	Status	Distribution	Comment
A	28.05.15	Draft	Client	Draft for Comment and Approval
В	24.09.2015	Final	City of Albany	Lodged with CoA for Approval
С	25.09.2015	Final	City of Albany	Resolution page revised per CoA request

ltd

Prepared for:	Portstyle Enterprises Pty
Prepared by:	DC
Reviewed by:	HD
Date:	23.09.2015
Job No & Name:	14456 Portstyle
Version:	C

DISCLAIMER

This document has been prepared by HARLEY DYKSTRA PTY LTD (the Consultant) on behalf of Portstyle Enterprises Pty Ltd (the Client). All contents of the document remain the property of the Consultant and the Client except where otherwise noted and is subject to Copyright. The document may only be used for the purpose for which it was commissioned and in accordance with the terms of engagement for the commission.

This document has been exclusively drafted. No express or implied warranties are made by the Consultant regarding the research findings and data contained in this report. All of the information details included in this report are based upon the existent land area conditions and research provided and obtained at the time the Consultant conducted its analysis.

Please note that the information in this report may not be directly applicable towards another client. The Consultant warns against adapting this report's strategies/contents to another land area which has not been researched and analysed by the Consultant. Otherwise, the Consultant accepts no liability whatsoever for a third party's use of, or reliance upon, this specific document.


CONTENTS

DOCUMENT CONTROL i
DISCLAIMER i
CONTENTS ii
1 INTRODUCTION & PROPOSAL
1.1 Purpose and Benefits of the Proposal
2 SITE DETAILS
2.1 Site Overview
2.2 Planning History
3 PLANNING REQUIREMENTS
3.1 City of Albany Local Planning Scheme No.1
 3.2 Albany Local Planning Strategy
3.3.1 Introduction
3.3.2 Land Use
3.3.3 Tenure and Management
4 REASON TO REQUIRE CHANGE
5 CONCLUSION
APPENDIX A – APPROVED DEVELOPMENT SITE PLANS

🚺 🕘 Harley Dykstra

1 INTRODUCTION & PROPOSAL

This Scheme Amendment is in relation to Lot 734 (No.33) Barker Road, Centennial Park (herein referred to as the 'subject site'). It establishes the strategic suitability of amending the conditions guiding development on Special Use Site No.17, contained in Schedule 4 of the City of Albany Local Planning Scheme No.1.

The purpose of the proposed amendment to the City of Albany Local Planning Scheme No.1 is to insert 'Park Home Park' as a discretionary ('D') use on the subject site. The purpose of this is not to change the form of the development that will eventuate on the subject site, rather the management of the subject site. This is outlined in further detail throughout this report.

1.1 Purpose and Benefits of the Proposal

The proposal to amend the Special Conditions applicable to Special Use Site No.17 seeks to include 'Park Home Park' as a discretionary use on the subject site, benefitting the management of the development. It will have the following benefits:

- Provide a good quality built form demanded by the aging population of Albany;
- Provide a highly demanded model of home ownership and management in close proximity to the central area and other high quality amenities of the City of Albany;
- Provide a management structure that ensures a high standard of landscaping and maintenance is undertaken consistently, resulting in a complex with high amenity in the long term; and
- Provide low maintenance, medium density housing.

Initial consultation with the City of Albany indicated that their main concern regarding the proposal was that it would reduce the quality of the development on the subject site. However, consideration should be given to the fact that the grouped dwelling development granted Planning Scheme Consent by the City of Albany will not change to accommodate the proposed additional land use. This grouped dwelling application showed a layout and housing design that would be synonymous with a 'Park Home Park'. Therefore, the form and quality of development will not change, with the proposal purely required to allow the management and ownership of the dwellings to be undertaken under the *Caravan Parks and Camping Grounds Regulations* 1997. This allows for more flexible leasing and management arrangements for a form of housing that is highly desired by the over 50 demographic.

With the inclusion of the 'Park Home Park' as a discretionary use within Special Use Site No.17, we would anticipate the City of Albany would require a condition applicable to 'Park Home Park', requiring that if a 'Park Home Park' was approved, the residential buildings would still have to comply with the Residential Design Codes. This therefore resolves the notion that type of development will be somewhat modified by the proposal to amend the scheme.

🐠 🔴 Harley Dykstra

2 SITE DETAILS

2.1 Site Overview

The subject site is located on Barker Road, approximately 1km from the Albany CBD and contains an area of approximately 2.7ha. A location plan is included in Figure 1 below.



Figure 1: Location Plan

[Source: Google Earth]

Surrounding land uses include:

- The Albany Leisure and Aquatic Centre (north);
- Hercules Crescent 'Regional Centre Mixed Business' zoned land (south);
- Albany Garden Holiday Resort zoned 'Caravan and Camping' (west);
- Park Home Park zoned 'Tourist Residential R30/50' (west); and
- Centennial Park 'Light Industry' zoned land (east).



The surrounding area is made up of a mix of land uses typical with this area. It is important to note that the question concerning this application is not that the site will be developed for residential uses, it is the strategic question of the site being used for 'Park Home Park'. This does not differ greatly from the previously approved grouped dwelling proposed. It should also be considered that adjoining the subject site is an existing 'Park Home Park' which provides a good quality of accommodation and is appropriate for the area.

The subject site is flat and currently being constructed in accordance with City of Albany Planning Scheme Consent P2130535. All necessary services and infrastructure are being developed on the site in accordance with this approval.

2.2 Planning History

Planning Scheme Consents have been issued by the City of Albany for the subject site for the development of grouped dwellings (P2130535 & P2150050). These approvals apply to the development of the first stage of Grouped Dwellings (x 21) and second and third stages of Grouped Dwellings (x 50). A copy of the approved Development Plans are included in **Appendix A**.

This approval applied to the layout of the subject grouped dwelling development. However, the development of the grouped dwellings themselves was subject to further refinement, with any additional design required to be provided to the City of Albany to be added to the Planning Scheme Consents, subject to compliance with the Residential Design Codes and other applicable planning framework (Condition A2 of Planning Scheme Consent P2130535 and Condition A5 of Planning Scheme Consent P2150050).

The reason for this process was to give flexibility to the final design of dwellings to be placed on the grouped dwelling sites, so long as they were fully compliant with the necessary requirements, thus voiding the necessity for separate planning applications and approvals to be undertaken and issued for each grouped dwelling if varying designs were progressed.

🔲 🔵 Harley Dykstra

3 PLANNING REQUIREMENTS

3.1 City of Albany Local Planning Scheme No.1

The purpose of the proposed amendment is to amend the discretionary uses allowed on Special Use Site No.17 of the City of Albany Local Planning Scheme No.1 (LPS 1) to include 'Park Home Park'. The definition of 'Park Home Park' is listed within the *Caravan Parks and Camping Grounds Regulations* 1997, as follows:

"means a caravan park at which park homes, but not any other caravans or camps, are situated for habitation;"

The above definition specifically precludes the site being used for a caravan park or camping ground and must be used for permanent park home accommodation.

As outlined above, the subject site is identified as Special Use Site No.17 by LPS 1. This Special Use Site identifies the types of uses that are allowable, one of which is a 'Grouped Dwelling' which has been approved and is being constructed on the subject site. Other conditions of Special Site No.17 relate to noise attenuation and treatment/setback to Yakamia Creek.

The proposed amendment to LPS 1 will result in 'Park Home Park' being added as a discretionary ('D') use on Special Use Site No.17. The proposed amendment is to be judged on merit only and will have no implications for other sites across the City of Albany.

3.2 Albany Local Planning Strategy

The Albany Local Planning Strategy (ALPS) classifies the subject site as *City Centre*. This use applies to a broad area and mix of uses that are contained within the centre of Albany, including residential, mixed business, recreation and industry.

The main purpose of identifying the *City Centre* classification is to preserve the integrity of the centre of Albany as the main retail, economic and social hub of the City. The proposal to identify *Park Home Park* as a discretionary use within Special Use Site No.17 will not compromise the use of the land. It will still be used for residential uses, as per the approval applicable to the land. However, the management of the subject site will then be able to be altered to a model compliant with the *Caravan Parks and Camping Grounds Regulations* 1997. Therefore, the use and form of development on the subject site for permanent residential will not change, only the model of management and tenure applicable to it, should the proposed discretionary use be supported.

Further to the above, ALPS highlights that medium density urban infill should be promoted in the Albany City Centre, as is approved/proposed on the subject site. As the proposed amendment is not changing the form of the approved uses on the subject site (only the management) and it will still constitute medium density urban infill - it is deemed consistent with the requirements of the Albany Local Planning Strategy.

🔲 🔵 Harley Dykstra

3.3 Caravan Parks and Camping Grounds Regulations 1997

3.3.1 Introduction

The Caravan Parks and Camping Grounds Regulations 1997 guide the development of caravan parks and camping grounds in Western Australia, but more importantly, apply to the development, management and tenure of park home parks. In some circumstances park home parks are established within existing caravan parks, but this does not always occur, particularly the neighbouring site which is zoned 'Tourist Residential' by LPS 1.

3.3.2 Land Use

Should the proposal to include *Park Home Park* as a discretionary use on Special Use Site No.17 be permitted by the City of Albany, the use on the subject site would then require approval of the City of Albany as an Application for Grant of Planning Scheme Consent. The purpose of this section of the report is to demonstrate that the approved grouped dwelling on the subject site will not need to change form, layout or proposed house design to comply with the requirements of the *Caravan Parks and Camping Grounds Regulations* 1997.

As shown on the attached Development Site Plans (**Appendix A**), which are approved by the City of Albany in separate Planning Scheme Consents as 'Grouped Dwellings', the following design parameters were applicable to the proposed development:

- 6m wide internal roads, with a 1.2m portion of the road surface (excepting entry) allocated as a pedestrian footpath, allowing vehicles to pass one-another, but also allowing a contained road environment. The *Caravan Parks and Camping Grounds Regulations* 1997 requires a 6m minimum separation between sites for the provision of a road;
- Provision of 19 bays for visitors parking;
- Provision of courtyards for each unit, in excess of 20m², with most having a dimension greater than 4m;
- Setbacks between dwellings that are compliant with the Residential Design Codes. The minimum setback between units in the *Caravan Parks and Camping Grounds Regulations* 1997 is 3m, which is achieved in all circumstances; and
- Provision of a 754m² landscaped Communal Open Space central and accessible within the development.

When considering the proposal, it should be considered by the City of Albany that the approved grouped dwelling has been designed to comply with the requirements of a Park Home Park. Therefore, the proposal to allow a change to the use of the land will not lead to a change in the use implemented on the site. The primary purpose of the amendment is to implement a change of management structure and tenure that would not be permitted for a grouped dwelling development.

Should it be required to ensure that the quality of the development is maintained, the inclusion of a condition applicable to development within Special Use Site No.17 could state that:



"The development of the Park Home Park use will be subject to demonstrating compliance of proposed park homes with the Residential Design Codes as well as the Caravan Parks and Camping Grounds Regulations 1997"

The above clause recognises that the use of the subject site must be permanent residential by nature and will result in a good quality of housing that complies with the Residential Design Codes. However, if approved as a *Park Home Park*, this will permit the management and tenure of the subject site in accordance with the requirements of the *Caravan Parks and Camping Grounds Regulations 199*. This form of tenure that is more flexible and more desirable for the desired target market of the subject site which is seniors. This is also a form of development which results in good management and maintenance of landscaping and infrastructure, which is provided for under the park home park management structure.

3.3.3 Tenure and Management

The purpose of the proposal is to simplify the management of the subject site in the long term and not to modify the form of development that will eventuate. In simple terms, the difference between a grouped dwelling and park home park is summarised in the following:

- Within a park home park, the owner of the park home will pay for ownership of the park home, with a lease being paid to the manager for upkeep of common areas and facilities as well as the use of the site. It is then the manager's responsibility to organise park home park maintenance.
- Within a grouped dwelling, each of the dwellings can either be leased and remain under a single ownership, or should a survey-strata subdivision be completed, each of the individual units can be owned as a separate entity. An annual payment to the body corporate for upkeep and maintenance of the facility.

The predominant benefit of a park home park is that it is a lock and leave facility. In most cases, all gardens and common areas are managed separate to the owners of the park homes, thus removing responsibility and providing for a well maintained facility in the long run. This type of development is well suited to retirees, as it enables them to have a home at a relatively cheap price whilst allowing them to leave and travel should they wish. In many cases, park home park development results in better management and maintenance of landscaping and infrastructure to ensure that the whole complex maintains a high amenity at all times. This is not always achieved in large grouped housing development with individual strata owners.

Within a survey-strata subdivision the arrangement can be more complicated. These properties are normally managed by a body corporate which is usually composed of owners, who arrange and determine maintenance, manage the budget of spending to be undertaken and other tasks. In a park home park development this is all managed separate to the owners of the dwellings, whilst still allowing them to own and occupy a permanent home.

🚺 🕘 Harley Dykstra

4 REASON TO REQUIRE CHANGE

'Park Home Park' can also be identified as a 'Lifestyle Village'. Lifestyle Villages generally:

- Offer a different experience for the resident than a traditional grouped dwelling development, or even a retirement village by comparison. They are more formally developed with amenities such as clubhouses and the like. In this instance, the approval to lifestyle village would allow us to establish a village park liaison committee with residents that would better maintain standards for the village, look at the use of any facilities such as the addition of a clubhouse, organise activities for residents and the like.
- Lifestyle villages are dealt with under the Residential Parks (Long-stay tenants) Act 2006, which provides somewhat clearer guidance for both the operator and the tenant in terms of obligations and benefits. While this can be dealt with through normal lease agreements it is beneficial for all parties to operate under the village model. This act also provides more clearly for 'Park Rules' to be made for the communal benefit of the village that might address noise, parking, sharing of common areas and the like. Again these can be dealt with through traditional tenancy agreements but the village model deals with these with greater clarity for all parties.
- Importantly the setting of park rules and the obligations to manage home alterations and additions can be clearly managed (controlled) through the lifestyle village model. We do not believe it is this model that provides for a myriad of home extensions, but in fact the operator of a particular village. Good management and village rules can ensure a high amenity development is maintained. There is a clear opportunity to control extensions and/or have requirements in place to be of materials, colours and finishes that match the home. We are happy to have any such approval linked to this, as we ourselves would retain this to ensure continued high standards.
- (Note that Development Approval to Stages 2 & 3 has been obtained, consistent with Stage 1, for all homes and there's no intention to modify these).
- The park village model can often mean that residents are entitled to Rent Assistance. While this will always relate to an individual persons circumstances, the "El Cabello Lifestyle Village" north of Perth highlights this in their website See: <u>http://www.eclv.com.au/faq.html</u> (mid way down page).
- There is no desire in this case to run "short-stay" or caravan / camping style rental. The landowner is seeking to progress the project as a lifestyle village <u>comprising long-stay</u> <u>tenants</u> who own their home, while renting the home site. In this sense they are all "owner occupier" and have a vested interest in the village being maintained and operating well.

Good lifestyle villages can function as important communities for those seeking to downsize, while not wanting to pursue retirement villages with high cost rent / deposit schemes or more general villa developments where there is no opportunity for resident interaction.

Many lifestyle villages are developed remotely from town centres on the basis that "everything's on site". In this case we believe that the Centennial Park area offers an opportunity to operate a



high quality lifestyle village in the heart of Albany, with some facilities on site yet easy access to transport, hospitals, shops and the like. The lifestyle village model will provide an opportunity for residents who could not otherwise afford to live in such a location to do so.

🐠 🔴 Harley Dykstra

5 CONCLUSION

The proposal to include the discretionary ('D') use of 'Park Home Park' on Special Use Site No.17 by amending the City of Albany Local Planning Scheme No.1 has sound planning grounds and is a standard amendment.

The proposal will not result in a reduced quality of development and will essentially mirror that which has been previously approved on the subject site by Planning Scheme Consents P2130535 and P2150050.

The proposal ensures that the use of the subject site for medium density housing can continue, but allows a modified form of ownership and management that is more desirable to the target market (being over 50's housing) in compliance with the *Caravan Parks and Camping Grounds Regulation 1997.* Without the use of 'Park Home Park' being permitted, this ownership and management would not be able to occur on the subject site within the current parameters of Special Use Site No.17.

It is respectfully requested that the City of Albany provides its support for the initiation of a Scheme Amendment to the City of Albany Local Planning Scheme No.1 allowing 'Park Home Park' to be added as a discretionary ('D') use within Special Use Site No.17.



APPENDIX A – APPROVED DEVELOPMENT SITE PLANS

Scheme Amendment Request – City of Albany Local Planning Scheme No.1 Lot 734 Barker Road, Centennial Park – Proposed Park Home Park





1.0

and a constant state

ജന

-ali

MCOUVER W

EGU/D.

() ()

TORNDIRRUP

20

HIMAN BAN

Gordon G. Smith MRICS. FPIA., CPP. (Rtd), Town Planner & Chartered Surveyor

14 Wattlebird Grove, (P. O. Box 230,) Pemberton W.A. 6260

 Telephone No.
 97 760 424

 Mobile No.
 0427 760 424

E-Mail: gandmsmith@westnet.com.au

SUBMISSION TO THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ALBANY REQUESTING MODIFICATIONS TO THE BIG GROVE OUTLINE DEVELOPMENT PLAN INSOFAR AS IT RELATES TO LOT 2 [No877] FRENCHMAN BAY ROAD.

PART A BACKGROUND

1 Introduction

The owner of Lot 2 [No 877] Frenchman Bay Road, Big Grove (the subject land) has commissioned this practice to prepare a submission to the Council of the City of Albany (the Council) requesting modifications to the Big Grove Outline Development Plan (BGODP) with the objective of achieving the outcome of subdividing a portion of the subject land into lots having areas of around 2500m² without the requirement to connect to reticulated sewerage.

2 The Land

The subject land is more particularly described as Lot 2 on Diagram No 32760 within part of Plantagenet Location 111, Certificate of Title Volume No 1940 Folio No 165.

It contains an area of 9.4266 ha and has a frontage to Frenchman Bay Road of 130.43m, a depth of 728.65m, a frontage to the Foreshore Reserve to Princess Royal Harbour of 113.28m and has a general north-north-east to south-south-west orientation.

It is located at the eastern end of the privately held land areas in Big Grove north of Frenchman Bay Road and is adjoined on its eastern boundary by bushland reserves and to its north by a foreshore reserve to Princess Royal Harbour. Properties to the west are held in private ownership and used generally as large rural-residential holdings in common with the subject land itself. Opposite the land in Frenchman Bay Road is part of the extensive Torndirrup National Park.

Lot 2 is identified on a copy of the BGODP Plan at Appendix No 1.

3 Physical Features

Although there is extensive vegetation on the land, much of it comprises a plantation of eucalypt trees extending from an area of natural vegetation approximately 75m deep along the Frenchman Bay Road frontage northwards to a point some 450m distant from that road. Land beyond that point comprises disturbed natural vegetation, planted areas and gardens associated with the established dwelling in the north-east corner of the Lot. The driveway to the dwelling follows the eastern boundary of the Lot.

Topographically, in common with adjoining land areas, the subject land rises from Frenchman Bay Road but thereafter slopes gently down to Princess Royal Harbour with only very minor fluctuations. A Site Topography and Features Map is included within the Aurora Environmental Report attached to this submission.

4 Local Planning Scheme Provisions

The currently operative planning scheme for the City of Albany is Local Planning Scheme No 1 (the Scheme) gazetted on 28th April 2014. Under that Scheme, the subject land together with most of the privately held lots in the Big Grove enclave north of Frenchman Bay Road is classified "Future Urban".

In part, and relevantly, the Objectives of this Zone state the following:-

Provide for structure planning of land within the zone to guide and coordinate land use and infrastructure provision where multiple ownerships or larger parcels of land requiring the staging of development is involved so that:

- (i) Future urban land is not fragmented or developed in such a way as to make urban development more costly or difficult;
- (ii) Development does not create an unreasonable or uneconomic demand for agencies to provide or extend public infrastructure or services;
- (iii) There is equitable sharing of the costs of infrastructure between owners and to ensure that cost contributions are only required towards such infrastructure as is reasonably required as a result of the subdivision and development of land; and
- (iv) Servicing agencies and Local Government can coordinate the timely provision of infrastructure to support the subdivision and development.

Consistent with this objective, a structure plan, known as the Big Grove Outline Development Plan (copy of plan at Appendix No 1) was prepared in December 2009 and finally adopted as Policy by Council on 26th August 2014. It covers the entire enclave known as Big Grove being the privately held land north of Frenchman Bay Road.

The preparation of Structure Plans is specifically authorised under the provisions of Clause 5.9 of the Scheme Text which sets the form which such Plans should take and the procedures through which they should pass prior to approval. Further the Scheme provisions also allow certain aspects of a Structure Plan to have force and effect as if enacted as part of the Scheme (although it is understood that this provision will be negated by the operation of the Planning and Development (Local Planning Scheme) Regulations 2015 due to be gazetted within a few weeks with operative effect to be on or around 19th October. After the commencement of the operation of those Regulations, structure plans will become instruments to which "due regard" must be paid in decision making by planning agencies). To the extent that the BGODP has been adopted by Council as Policy it will be more consistent with the position produced by the proposed new Regulations.

5 **Provisions of the Big Grove Outline Development Plan (ODP)**

It is not the function of this submission to address all of the provisions of this ODP but rather to focus upon those aspects that have relevance to the subject land.

There are significant variations from the general norm within the ODP with respect to the way the Lots at the western and eastern (Lot 2) extremes are treated for future subdivision and land use. Insofar as concerns Lot 2, apart from the entire Frenchman Bay Road frontage being shown as an area of Public Open Space to a depth of some 75m, the balance of the holding is shown as being within a residential land use area with, variously, the R 10, R 17.5 and R 40 Density Codes of the Residential Design Codes being applied.

The area allocated to an R 10 density coding occupies some two-thirds of the eastern portion of the lot and has been so designated because of the recommendations of the Fire Management Plan Report (FMP) prepared to complement and justify the ODP. That FMP advocated that the eastern part of the lot should comprise lower density development so that fewer dwellings would be at risk of damage in the event of a fire. With respect to precautions in the event of fire, the ODP also shows a 40m wide building setback area from the eastern boundary which would comprise a 6m wide trafficable accessway for fire fighting vehicles and Building Protection and Fire Hazard separation Zones.

The balance of the holding apart from the Public Open Space and the R 10 coded area is allocated to the R 17.5 Code with the exception of an area of approximately 3500m² in the extreme north-west corner of the lot which is allocated to the R 40 Code and has a common boundary at its northern end with the Foreshore Reserve to Princess Royal Harbour.

Among the other provisions of the ODP that are addressed in the Text to the ODP are statements in Paragraphs 14 and 21 that all new subdivision and development is to be connected to reticulated sewerage infrastructure.

PART B PROPOSED MODIFICATIONS TO BIG GROVE OUTLINE DEVELOPMENT PLAN

6 Proposed subdivision of Lot 2

The owner of Lot 2 proposes to subdivide that portion of his land shown coded R 10 within the BGODP with the intention of creating a homestead lot over the existing dwelling on the land but also a number of other lots having areas of around 2500m² which is quite permissible within the R 10 coding as that represents a maximum density only. However, in practice the subdivision density would be lower than R 5. A schematic sketch of that form of subdivision is shown at Appendix No 3 B.

While the R10 coding selection applied to this portion of the BGODP was predicated on the recommendations of the FMP, that lower density development occur closer to areas of bushland within adjoining reserves, it is submitted that it did not take into account the likely patterns of subdivision of that area as largely dictated by the configuration of the land so coded. As such the R10 coding is considered inappropriate for the following reasons;

 Using the diagrammatic road layout for the BGODP area, the R10 density of 1,000 sqm lot size is unachievable as demonstrated by the schematic sketch of subdivision at Appendix 3A showing the minimum lot sizes achievable are 1,520 sqm based on the minimum frontage allowable of 20m and the depth of 76m (as determined by the area

designated R 10 Code - low density). The actual lot size achievable represents an R coding of approximately R6.5.

- ii) In trying to achieve the density of R10 coding, if 1,520m² lots were to be created they would have very poor proportions in terms of their frontage to depth ratio at close to 1:4. Such lots would be most unattractive given that the extra space would not result in greater separation between buildings with improved residential amenity that a low density subdivision might normally be expected to deliver and would result in dwellings being erected in a pattern similar to traditional subdivisions with very little separation distances from one another. This would also not achieve the objective of the FMP as argued in paragraph 4 below.
- iii) Rather than lots of that shape being created, orderly and proper planning suggests a more appropriate ratio of around 1:2. To achieve such a subdivision on the low density land, frontages would need to be approximately 33m with the set depth of 76m, yielding a lot size of around 2,500m² as shown in the schematic subdivisional design at Appendix 3B. This, it is submitted, would be more consistent with an R5 coding; a more appropriate coding than R10.
- iv) It might be expected that the philosophy behind the low density requirement would be that dwellings would have greater separation distances between them; reducing the prospects of fire spreading from one to another and with better access to defend each property in the event of fire. In trying to achieve the density of R10 coding the 1,520m² lots with a 20m frontage would not be likely to achieve that outcome. Creating larger lots according to an R5 coding with frontages of around 33m would provide increased and more practical separation distances between dwellings. This is more than adequately demonstrated by reference to Appendices 3A and 3B; the former showing building envelopes at 17m width and separation distances at 3m, the latter using the same building envelope size showing 16m separation distances between them. It is submitted that the above reasons justify that the most appropriate R coding for the low density land on part of Lot 2 is R5 rather than R10 and as such is more likely to satisfy the objectives of the FMP.

While it is not necessary to amend the provisions of the BGODP to reduce the R Coding from R 10 to R 5,(given that subdivision does not have to occur at the maximum permissible density), it is considered that it would be an appropriate adjustment to make to distinguish the R 10 coded area on part of Lot 2 from other land coded in the same way.

7 Sewerage

As already noted, the BGODP states in two places in the text (Clauses 14 and 21) that all subdivision and development within the ODP area will not be supported unless the proposal concerned is connected to a reticulated sewerage service.

Presently the nearest sewerage service is some 3kms distant from Lot 2 and, economically, it would be impossible to connect the proposed new lots to that service.

With subdivision being proposed at a density equivalent to R5 with lots of approximately 2,500m², it is submitted that, based on the arguments set out in the Draft Country Sewerage Policy September 2002, (amended in September 2003), it is not necessary for the subdivision to be connected to reticulated sewerage provided it can be demonstrated that on-site septic effluent disposal can be achieved without off-site implications of any consequence.

One of the objectives of that Draft Policy is that it should:-

"provide flexibility in the control of subdivisions or density developments for which reticulated sewerage is unlikely to be available for some time."

Further, in respect of "Large Lots" that Draft Policy provides as follows:

Proposals for large lot subdivision or density development can be considered if they do not involve the creation of lots less than 2000m², or density development at a density greater than R5, provided the statutory authority, after considering the advice of consultative authorities, is satisfied that there is no opportunity within the area covered by the proposal for further subdivision without sewerage.

In terms of lot size, it is noted that, under a proposed future Government Sewerage Policy, (advertised for public comment but as yet not promulgated) under the heading "Minimum Lot Sizes for Unsewered Developments and Subdivisions" the Department of Health recommends a minimum lot size for unsewered subdivision of 1000m². This lends even greater credence to the adequacy of the lot sizes proposed in this submission to dispose of septic effluent on-site.

It can also be argued that the land is "Remote and Isolated" for the purposes of the presently operative Draft Country Sewerage Policy further justifying the notion that a low density subdivision of less than 25 lots at a density of R5 or less need not be connected to reticulated sewerage.

As set out below in paragraph 11, it is requested that Council initiate modifications to the BGODP to remove the requirement to connect the low density subdivision of Lot 2 to reticulated sewerage. It is also seen to be appropriate, for the purpose of distinguishing the R 10 coded land on Lot 2 from other land so coded, that the BGODP be modified to reduce the R 10 coding over that portion of Lot 2 to R5.

8 Subdivision Considerations

An Application for Approval to Subdivide could be submitted to the Western Australian Planning Commission (the Commission) to undertake the subdivision as now proposed (i.e. without connection to sewerage) irrespective of the provisions of the BGODP. However, the view is taken that, as the provisions of the BGODP have force and effect as if enacted as part of LPS No 1, (although that will change as a result of shortly-to-be-gazetted Regulations as already noted) there would be significant constraints on both the Commission and the Council to process favourably any such Application in the light of its provisions.

Section 138 of the Planning and Development Act 2005 (as amended) provides, in part, that the Commission shall have "due regard to the provisions of any local planning scheme that applies to the land under consideration and is not to give an approval that conflicts with the provisions of a local planning scheme". (After the new Regulations come into effect, both the Commission and the Council will continue to be required to have "due regard" to the provisions of a local planning scheme (as complemented by any ODP) when making their respective decisions.)

While Section 138 goes on to allow certain actions that are not inconsistent with the intent of the Scheme, it is considered that the provisions of the BGODP should be modified to remove the conflict such that the Commission may not feel constrained to refuse a Subdivision Application because of its very specific sewerage connection provisions.

Similarly, the Council is responsible for implementing the Scheme and as such is duty bound to have due regard to the provisions of its own Scheme when making recommendations to the Commission about how a Subdivision Application should be determined. Modification of the BGODP to provide for unsewered subdivision in the manner proposed in this submission would allow Council to make a favourable recommendation to the Commission. If the BGODP is modified in these ways, both the Commission and the Council would have the opportunity to deal with any such Subdivision Application without being seen to disregard its existing sewerage provisions.

9 Possible Objections to Unsewered Subdivision on Part of Lot 2

a) Potential Impact on Water Quality in Princess Royal Harbour

During the course of enquiries with respect to promoting the present submission, it was indicated that on-site septic effluent disposal would not be acceptable due to potential impacts on water quality in Princess Royal Harbour which has suffered various adverse impacts from time to time from differing sources.

In an endeavour to address this issue by those having appropriate expertise, Aurora Environmental were engaged to advise of possible impacts. Their findings are contained within the attached report (Appendix No 2) which explains the sources of pollution to the waters of the Harbour and demonstrates that urban groundwater and run-off contribute, proportionately, minimal levels of pollution. The report goes on to conclude that "there is no appreciable risk to water quality in Princess Royal Harbour" from a subdivision of the subject land if alternative treatment plants (ATUs) are used.

The reader is referred to that document for the detailed justification for reaching that conclusion. (Appendix No 2)

b) Precedent

The present submission for a minor modification to the provisions of BGODP, insofar as they relate to Lot 2, is not inconsistent with the land use and development expectations of the Plan. All of that land will continue to be used for the purposes stated in the Plan and, other than those portions coded R10, all other residential areas are coded R 17.5 or higher as part of the "Future Urban" expectations of LPS No 1.

For the higher density coded areas, sewerage connections would typically be required so the exemption of the portion of Lot 2 within the R 10 code would not change any requirements for sewerage in the balance of the BGODP area. A subdivision as envisaged in this submission with appropriate adjustments to the BGODP would pre-empt any further subdivision of this part of Lot 2.

An area of R 10 Coded land is shown adjacent to the western boundary of the BGODP area for the same reasons as for Lot 2. It forms parts of three existing lots, Lots 10, 11 and 12 Panorama Road, with varying proportions over each. Those proportions in each case are, however, significantly less than the proportion of R 10 coded land over Lot 2. The corollary is that, there will be a greater need for sewerage to be connected to those lots to service the higher density portions of those lots than would be the case for Lot 2. Thus, with proportionately greater lot yields from higher density areas on each of those lots and much closer proximity to the existing/extended sewerage service, there are few similarities between the two areas Coded R 10 and certainly insufficient to suggest that the present proposal relating to part of Lot 2 would constitute some sort of precedent for similar action on the R10 coded land on Lots 10, 11 and 12. The diagrammatic road layout for Lots 10, 11 and 12 is also different and likely to lead to a different pattern of subdivision.

It is asserted, therefore, that there are distinct differences between the planning circumstances appropriate to the subject land and other land areas within the BGODP with the result that identical planning arguments to those now applied cannot be promoted with equivalent relevance to any other land in that Plan area. Consequently, no precedent would be set by permitting subdivision as proposed in this submission.

Even in the event that the foregoing arguments are not fully accepted, precedent must be considered against relevant case law. Precedent, as a planning argument, was considered by the State Administrative Tribunal in the case **Nicholls and Western Australian Planning Commission** (2005) WASAT 40; 149 LGERA 117 at (71) – (75). In that case, the Tribunal adopted the following criteria as to the circumstances in which precedent is a relevant consideration in a planning assessment, from **Goldin v Minister for Transport** (2002) 121 LGERA 101 as consistent with Western Australian authority;

- 1) That the proposed development or subdivision is not in itself unobjectionable; and
- 2) That there is more than a mere chance or possibility that there may be later undistinguishable applications.

For precedent to be a relevant factor, both tests must be satisfied. It is considered that the first test can be determined in the affirmative and the second in the negative in the sense that there are unlikely to be later undistinguishable applications. As to the first, for reasons discussed earlier, the amendment to the BGODP for the subject low density land to allow subdivision using on-site sewerage disposal is of itself unobjectionable as it conforms with all relevant planning criteria. Secondly, the subject land, for reasons also discussed earlier, is distinguishable from other land in the BGODP. The only other low density coded area in the BGODP with some similarities is a small section on the western boundary, which is considered distinguishable from the subject land in terms of road layout, proportions of land coded R10 and R17.5 and its closer proximity in the BGODP to the Water Corporation's sewerage front.

c) Reduction in Lot Yield

While some argument can be mounted along the lines that the greater the number of lots created from the BGODP the more economical the provision of sewerage will become, it is considered that the proportion of lots to be created from the R10 portion of the subject land compared to the total overall yield from the whole BGODP area is minimal.

Appendix 4 shows a projected lot yield table for the whole BGODP area from a report on the

BGODP for an Ordinary Council Meeting & Briefing Agenda – 14/12/10. The table summarizes the projected lot yield as anticipated by the developer/applicant which prepared the BGODP. This table shows the average lot sizes as projected by the applicant for the R10 coded land at 1,500m². Based on this lot size of 1500m², which, for all practical purposes, is the minimum that can be achieved for the subject land under R10, the proportion of lots created (namely 26 as per Appendix 3A) represents 2.6% of the total BGODP. In terms of the more appropriate size lot of 2,500m² for the subject low density land (16 as per Appendix 3B) as argued in this submission, the proportion of the total BGODP is 1.6%. Impact on the viability of providing reticulated sewerage would, therefore, be barely noticeable and is unlikely to influence whether or not such a service is extended to the area.

Furthermore, in addition to the argument that a smaller number of lots be created over the low density portion of the subject land, its location within the BGODP makes the concept of contributing to the extension of services/infrastructure to the area even more impractical. The subject land is the eastern-most property in the BGODP and, as such, is the furthest from the Water Corporation's existing sewer.

Adjoining the subject land is the major landowner and applicant for the BGODP, Peet Tri State Syndicate Ltd (Peet) which owns some 58% in one contiguous parcel. Advice from the Water Corporation is that the most likely scenario of extending sewer to the area is along the foreshore to a pump station in the most westerly corner of Peet's land.

As it is not feasible to extend the sewer some 3 kms (past all the other properties in the BGODP) to service the subject land by itself due to the argued, more appropriate, lower lot yield from the low density land (which will also respond more favourably to market conditions), the only other option is to wait for Peet to extend the sewer. Peet is the largest landowner creating potentially the greatest number of lots requiring an extension to the sewer. This will inevitably take many years due to the current over-supply of small residential lots in Albany and current low market demand.

When development does occur, Peet will, most likely, extend the sewer to the western corner of their land as indicated by the Water Corporation and develop in stages from the west and work east over the years. The western point of Peet's land is some 1 km from the subject land and the cost extending sewer this distance for the subject land (considering its yield) is not viable. Once Peet has staged development over the years to a point where it is close to the subject property the viability of connection to sewer may become greater but with very low density subdivision it could conceivably still not be economic to connect. With current market conditions and the potential number of lots on Peet's land, it is expected that this time frame will be decades.

As mentioned, some two thirds of the subject land is zoned low density to achieve the objectives of the FMP which, as put forward in this submission, will still not achieve the desired outcome at R10 density. An even lower density is more likely to be more consistent with that outcome. This, combined with approximately 10% of the land being designated POS, limits the number of lots that can be created. These sacrifices in development potential for the subject land along with the extra costs to be borne by the subject property in abiding by the FMP, all in the interests and safety of the overall BGODP area, raises the question of whether it is reasonable to place an even greater impost over the subject land in being required to contribute to the cost of extending the sewer to the locality. This is especially relevant when the proportional number of lots created from the low density area of Lot 2 to the overall number of lots to be created within the BGODP is minimal.

d) Acid Sulphate Soils

Extensive testing has not been undertaken but, from information currently to hand, although there may be some acid sulphate soils along and near the foreshore to Princess Royal Harbour, there is no indication that the land is so affected. More details in this regard can be compiled as and when formal subdivision proposals are put forward.

10 Benefits of Lower Density, Unsewered Subdivision

Provision of New, Atypical Lots to Meet a Particular Need.

The preparation of the BGODP was undertaken at a time when the expectations of future urban development and residential property take-up were high before the global financial crisis. A far more pragmatic and probably more realistic view of the potential for subdivision and development in this area currently prevails with future subdivision and development as envisaged by the Plan being unlikely for many years.

The sewerage requirement over the whole Plan area with all of its associated costs operates to effectively remove any present potential for subdivision and, therefore, any prospect of lots being provided for those who wish to live in the area.

The proposal to create some additional, larger lots in the locality would not only partially redress this problem but also supply lots not typically created; filling a market niche.

Improved Lot Proportions

As previously argued, subdivision of the R10 Coded area of Lot 2 to its maximum density would result in the creation of exceptionally poorly proportioned lots with a frontage to depth ratio of approximately 1 in 4. The present proposal envisages lots of much improved size and shape with a frontage to depth ratio of 1 in 2. Lots of this shape would be far simpler to develop and provide greater separation between dwellings, thus improving residential amenity.

With fewer dwellings adjoining the Bushland Reserves, the graduation between the natural bushland areas to urban development would be softened.

Improved Compliance with FMP Provisions

The creation of some 17 new lots on the fringe of the BGODP area, as distinct from the much greater number capable of being created at the maximum R 10 density, not only produces lots of significantly improved shape and proportions but also reduces the number of dwellings exposed to the risk of fire from adjoining reserves containing natural bushland. Moreover, with increased space between dwellings, there will be more likelihood that properties can be defended from one another should a fire occur. The objectives of the FMP would be realised to an even greater degree than might have been envisaged when the R 10 code was applied through the ODP.

PART C REQUESTED MODIFICATIONS TO BGODP

11 It is requested that the Council, and by extension the Commission, as the agencies involved in the approval processes for ODPs adopt modifications to the BGODP as provided for in Clause 5.9.1.6 in accordance with or generally along the lines of the following:-

i) Proposed Modification to Clause 14 of the Text accompanying the BGOCDP as provided for in Clause 5.9.1.6 of the Scheme Text to LPS No1 to include words in italics and underlined below.

14) Sewer and Water Infrastructure

All future development and subdivision (except for the creation of retained lots to excise existing dwellings adjacent to the foreshore and South Coast Water Reserve Priority 2 Protection Area <u>and lots created within that part of Lot 2 coded R5 on the ODP Plan</u>) within the ODP area is to be provided with reticulated water and reticulated sewerage infrastructure. Subdivision and development within the ODP area shall not be supported unless the proposal can provide reticulated water and sewerage services.

ii) Proposed Modification to Clause 21 of the Text to include words in italics and underlined below.

Standard conditions expected to be imposed relate to:

• Provision and connection to infrastructure (power, water, sewer <u>(except as provided in</u> <u>Clause 14)</u>, telecommunications);

iii) Proposed Modification to the BGODP Plan as follows:-

Amend the legend to the Plan to show a further notation under the Low Density Residential land uses of "Low Density Residential (R5)" with a suitable distinctive annotation on the Plan itself to cover the area of land presently coded R10 within Lot 2.

Gordon G Smith



APPENDIX No 2 REPORT DATED 7TH AUGUST 2015 BY

AURORA ENVIRONMENTAL



7 August 2014

George Vasiliu 877 Frenchman Bay Road BIG GROVE WA 6330

Dear George,

ON SITE EFFLUENT DISPOSAL ASSESSMENT – ANALYSIS – LOT 2 (No. 887) FRENCHMAN BAY ROAD – BIG GROVE OUTLINE DEVELOPMENT PLAN

Aurora Environmental has undertaken an assessment of a portion of Lot 2 Frenchman Bay Road in Big Grove (Attachment 1) to determine suitability of the area for on-site effluent disposal. BACKGROUND

Lot 2 is part of the Big Grove Outline Development Plan (BGODP) area (Attachment 2). The area examined comprises the portion of Lot 2 which is designated 'Low Density Residential – R10' under the BGODP, where lot sizes will be larger than $1000m^2$ (Attachment 2). The landowner wishes to create lots greater than $2000m^2$ to allow for lot widths of at least 34m.

The larger lot sizes of the R10 area has been assigned due to the proximity of Reserve 930 immediately to the east, which comprises native vegetation with a high fire risk. On-site effluent disposal is being considered for this portion of Lot 2 as the provision of a reticulated sewer service is not considered to be a financially feasible option in the short to medium term.

Princess Royal Harbour

The subject land is located approximately 150m south of Princess Royal Harbour. EPA Bulletin 412 (1990) states that concern regarding the water quality of Princess Royal Harbour dates back to the early 1970s when a survey of water quality was undertaken for the Albany Port Authority raised initial concerns. In 1976 the Albany Waterways Management Authority was established to ensure that the water quality of the Albany harbours remained high. Testing in 1978 and 1979 indicated that some areas of the Harbour had high levels of faecal bacteria, but that the overall nutrient status was acceptable. However, in 1983 fish tissue samples indicated relatively high levels of mercury.

An intensive survey of the sediments and biota from the Harbour showed high levels of mercury and lead. Subsequently, the *Albany Harbours Environmental Study* was undertaken (1988 to 1989) and summarised by the Environmental Protection Authority (Bulletin 412; EPA, 1990). The main findings relating to the Harbour included that nutrients and heavy metals entering the Harbour were mostly from point sources, including King Point Wastewater Treatment Plant, Vital Foods, CSBP Wesfarmers Ltd, Princess.Royal Seafoods, Metro Meats, Albany Woollen Mills, Albany Wharf and Hanrahan Road landfill (Plate 1). More diffuse sources such as groundwater and rural and urban stormwater runoff also contributed to nutrient loads.

ZA Nakina Strivet, Albany 6330 T (08) 6819 5000 F (08) 9841 3570

Mr G, Vasiliu

On-site Effluent Disposal Assessment and Analysis - Lot 2 Frenchman Bay Road, Big Grove

Urban groundwater was estimated to contribute less than 0.5 of a tonne of phosphorus per annum compared to the total input of 18.15 tonnes of phosphorus to the Harbour in 1988 (South Coast Rivercare, 2015). The EPA (1990) noted that urban groundwater contaminants originated from a number of sources including Hanrahan Road landfill, CSBP and to a lesser extent garden fertilising and septic tanks. This indicates that only a very small proportion of nutrients in the groundwater could be attributed to septic tanks.

Septic tanks are likely to contribute significant amounts of nitrogen and phosphorus to the soil, but the current load of nutrients entering the harbour from this source is not accurately known. Princess Royal Harbour Nutrient Audit Tables (South Coast Rivercare, 2015) estimated that total groundwater input, part of which comprised septic tank effluent, contributed around 0.99 tonnes of phosphorus and 5.8 tonnes of nitrogen per annum between 1988 and 2001, a small fraction of overall nutrient input (Attachment 3).

As of 2001, the annual nutrient input into Princess Royal Harbour was estimated to be 2.66 tonnes of phosphorus (6.8 fold reduction from 1988) and 20.56 tonnes of nitrogen (2.9 fold reduction from 1988) (Attachment 3). The reduction in nutrient inflow to the Harbour is mostly related to addressing nutrient export from point sources, as reticulated sewer was not extended to Little Grove until 2006.

Plate 1: Inputs of Phosphorus and Nitrogen to Princess Royal Harbour in 1988



Note: ? indicates estimate. Source: EPA, 1990 - Bulletin 412

PURPOSE AND SCOPE

The purpose of this investigation was to determine the suitability of the subject land for on-site effluent disposal.

The scope of work undertaken included the following:

- Review existing policy and guidelines to determine if the subject land meets the minimum site requirements for on-site effluent disposal. The relevant policies and guidelines included:
 - Draft Country Sewerage Policy (Department of Health (DOH), 1999 as amended 2003). This
 document governs onsite effluent disposal until the Draft Government Sewerage Policy is finalised;

Aurora Environmental GVA-2015-001_REPT_mp_v1_pz.docx 7 August 2014

Mr G. Vasiliu

On-site Effluent Disposal Assessment and Analysis - Lot 2 Frenchman Bay Road, Big Grove

- Government Sewerage Policy Consultation Draft which was released by DoH in 2011. When this
 Policy is finalised, it will replace the Draft Country Sewerage Policy; and
- Code of Practice for the Design, Manufacture, Installation and Operation of Aerobic Treatment Units (ATUs) (DOH 2001).
- Collect the following information for the subject land:
 - A description of soil profile to a depth of 2.0m;
 - Soil permeability;
 - Soil phosphorus retention index;
 - Groundwater levels;
 - Site topography and any other constraining features such as rock outcrops, water courses and steep slopes; and
 - Site observations (e.g. site contamination, proximity to wetlands, water courses, or conflicting land uses (for residential development).
- Review the data collected and comment on the type and location of appropriate wastewater treatment systems, comment on the suitability of area for irrigation and determine whether on-site effluent disposal is consistent with policy requirements and guidelines.

POLICY AND GUIDELINES REVIEW

Septic Tanks and ATUs

Modern policies (e.g. Planning Bulletin 7 Government Sewerage Policy Perth Metropolitan Region WAPC, 1995) consider that septic tanks in close proximity to waterways are not an appropriate method of waste disposal in the long-term, because as the surrounding soil becomes increasingly saturated with nutrients, less are retained and therefore are likely to migrate to waterways via groundwater. In the instance of Princess Royal Harbour, the reduction of septic tanks is being resolved through the provision of reticulated sewer to Uittle Grove and surrounding residential areas (where density, cost and accessibility allow).

The development and use of ATUs in Western Australia as an alternative to septic tanks has improved the treatment and disposal of waste water on-site. These units have allowed for larger lots in unsewered areas to be developed.

The Department of Health (DoH) recognises the use of ATU systems for which it provides approval, for single houses, multi-residential and non-residential developments where reticulated sewer cannot be connected (or connection is problematic). ATUs treat waste water to a high standard, removing pathogens and nutrients via biological (bacteria and vegetation in irrigation areas) and chemical processes (adsorption of nutrients, disinfection). The treated waste water is disposed over a dedicated irrigation area to assimilate any remaining nutrients using plants or soil with adsorption potential. Some ATUs are specially designed to remove phosphates through precipitation, irrigation and/or use of amended soils. In Western Australia, all ATUs are required be serviced quarterly to ensure optimal operation.

For these reasons, the use of ATUs in sensitive areas is considered to be a legitimate way to safely treat waste water, as long as the subject land meets criteria outlined in Western Australian on-site waste water treatment policy documents.

WESTERN AUSTRALIAN POLICY REQUIREMENTS

The Draft Country Sewerage Policy 1999 (as amended 2003) states:

Aurora Environmental GVA-2015-001_REPT_mp_v1_pz.docx 7 August 2014

Mr G, Vasiliu

On-site Effluent Disposal Assessment and Analysis - Lot 2 Frenchman Bay Road, Big Grove

- Section 5.2: Proposals for large lot subdivision or density development can be considered if they do not involve the creation of lots less than 2000m², or development at a density greater than R5 and provided that there is no opportunity within the area covered by the proposal for further subdivision, without reticulated sewerage.
- Section 5.3: Proposals in remote and isolated locations may be supported, depending on the nature of the site and the waste water disposal arrangement chosen, and subject to:
 - the development being a maximum density of R10 and no more than 25 lots or dwelling units in total;
 - the overall objectives of the Policy not being compromised; and
 - the statutory authority being satisfied, after considering the advice of consultative authorities, that the intended wastewater disposal arrangements are acceptable.

Due to the fire risk associated with Reserve 860 adjacent to the subject land and the desire to create lots with a frontage of at least 34m, the proposed lot sizes will be in excess of 2000m². It is unlikely that there will be further subdivision of the proposed lots. Therefore, the proposed subdivision of Lot 2 meets the above requirements of the *Draft Country Sewerage Policy 1999* (as amended 2003).

The Code of Practice for the Design, Manufacture, Installation and Operation of Aerobic Treatment Units (ATUs) (DOH, 2001) describes requirements for ATU installation, including allotment requirements, setbacks, assignment of an irrigation area, landscaping, depth to groundwater and consideration of phosphorus retention ability of the soil. These matters are considered below.

DATA ANALYSIS AND COMPLIANCE WITH SITE REQUIREMENTS

Data has been collected to inform the BGODP planning process (Coffey Environments, 2009) and provides information about the subject land and compliance with the *Draft Country Sewerage Policy (DoH 1999, As* Amended 2003) And *Code of Practice for the Design, Manufacture, Installation and Operation of Aerobic Treatment Units* (ATUs) (DoH, 2001).

Lot Size

The Draft Country Sewerage Policy (DoH 1999, As Amended 2003) states that proposals for large lot subdivision or density development can be considered if they do not involve the creation of lots less than 2000m². The Draft Government Sewerage Policy (DoH, 2011) states that minimum lot sizes could be 1000m² for areas with gravels and sands, sandy loams and loams. The R10 section of Lot 2 will meet these allotment criteria.

Topography and Groundwater

Available topographical data indicates that the highest point of the land occurs in the south eastern corner at 20m AHD and the lowest point 5mAHD adjacent to the foreshore reserve boundary in the north (Attachment 1). There are no slopes in the development area that exceed a one in five gradient.

Groundwater level data has been collected from two monitoring bores adjacent to the subject land which are reflective of conditions on the site (MB6 and MB7; Attachment 1). Data collected between 2010 and 2012 (Table 1) indicates that the maximum groundwater level in the southern portion of the subject land (MB7) is 4.51m below ground level (BGL) or 8.95m AHD. Groundwater levels in this area fluctuated by approximately 0.95m annually. The northern portion of the land, adjacent to the Princess Royal Harbour foreshore reserve (MB6) experienced a maximum ground water level of 1.63m BGL or 2.97m AHD. Groundwater levels in this

Aurora Environmental GVA-2015-001_REPT_mp_v1_pz.docx 7 August 2014

Mr G. Vasiliu

On-site Effluent Disposal Assessment and Analysis - Lot 2 Frenchman Bay Road, Big Grove

area fluctuated by approximately 1.1m annually. These groundwater levels indicate that the land is suitable to ensure an adequate distance to groundwater for on-site effluent disposal.

Location	Bore Depth (mBGL)	Maximum (mBGL)	Minimum (mBGL)	Surface (mAHD)	Minimum (mAHD)	Maximum (mAHD)	Change (m)
MB6	3.55	2.73	1.63	4.60	1.87	2.97	1.10
MB7	5.45	(>5.45)	4.51	13.45	(<8.00)	8.95	>0.95
Requiren 2003)	nent: Draft Co	untry Sewerag	e Policy (DoH	1999, As Am	ended Co	mpliance:	
highest k may be u highest k	nown groundw ised to increase	ater level, Corr the clearance l vater level, sub	e natural groun ectly engineeren between the nat iject to such dr	d drainage sol ural surface ar	utions read	e subject land quirement as the im separation pundwater levels.	
	ral land slope o one in five grad		water disposal	is to occur sha		e subject land do pes with a great	

Soil Profile

A review of the *Environmental Geology Series* maps prepared by the Geological Survey of Western Australia was undertaken to determine the geology of the site. The site is located on the Albany Part Sheets 2427 I, 2428 II, 2527 IV and 2528 III (Gozzard, 1989). The geological units that make up the topographical features of the site are described as:

- LS5 comprises limestone, very pale brownish yellow, fine to medium, sub-rounded quartz and shell debris, generally friable.
- S14 comprises sand, white to pale grey, fine to medium, occasionally coarse, angular to sub-angular quartz, little fines, moderately sorted.

The unit LS5 is predominant over the site, with the unit S14 only occurring close to Frenchman Bay Road. The soils in the study area are of adequate depth for installation and operation of ATUs, as shown by bore log information in Gozzard (1989) which indicates sandy soils to a depth of 50m BGL. There are no rock outcrops or water courses associated with the subject land.

Requirement: Draft Country Sewerage Policy (DoH 1999, As Amended 2003)	Compliance:
The site is required to have soil characteristics capable of receiving all wastewater likely to be generated on the site without risk to public health or the environment. Sites that have shallow or no permeable topsoils, underlain by rock or low permeability soils (e.g. clays, etc.) are less able to receive wastewater	The subject land meets this requirement as there are friable loamy lime sands (LS5) and a small portion of fiable white to grey sands (S14) close to Frenchman Bay Road.

Aurora Environmental GVA-2015-001_REPT_mp_v1_pz.docx 7 August 2014

Mr G. Vəsiliu

On-site Effluent Disposal Assessment and Analysis - Lot 2 Frenchman Bay Road, Big Grove

Soil Permeability

Infiltration tests have been undertaken at MB6 and MB7 to determine the general permeability of the soil at the site. The K_{SAT} results summarised in Table 2.

Table 2: Calculated Ksat Values and Drainage Classification

Location	K _{SAT} (m/Day)	Permeability
M86	0.576	Low permeability
M87	10.736	Medium permeability

* Soil Category as per Standards Australia 1547:2012.

Based on infiltration testing results, the calculated K_{SAT} values are 0.576m/day at MB6 which equates to 'low permeability' and 10.736m/day at MB7 which equates to medium permeability. Based on this permeability, the soils at MB6 fall into category 4, a loam with low permeability and MB7 a sandy loam with medium permeability (Standards Australia, 2012). These permeability rating are considered to be adequate for on-site effluent disposal and irrigation (Standards Australia, 2012).

Phosphorus Retention Index

Soil samples have been tested from locations MB6 and MB7. The PRI for the soil samples taken at MB6 is 83.1 and 0 at MB7 (Attachment 1). As noted in *Water Quality Protection Note 22: Irrigation with Nutrient Rich Wastewater* (DoW, July 2006), soils with Phosphorus Retention Index (PRI) ratings higher than 10 have a reduced risk of leaching nutrients through the soil profile and into the groundwater. The DoH published *Code of Practice for the Design, Manufacture, Installation and Operation of Aerobic Treatment Units* (DoH, 2001) specifies that surface irrigation disposal areas need to contain soils with PRI values greater than 20. If soil PRI is less than 20, then high-PRI amended soil are recommended for the site. The LS5 sands have an adequate PRI for on-site effluent disposal. For areas which contain the S14 soil type, it is recommended that amended soil be used for irrigation areas.

Sensitive Receiving Bodies

The Draft Country Sewerage Policy (1999; as amended 2003) provides buffer distance requirements to environmentally sensitive areas. The buffers that apply to the subject land for ATUs are:

- All water features 100m. The development area is not within 100m of a water feature (Princess Royal Harbour is 150m north of development area).
- Estuaries, watercourses and marine environment 30m. The development area is more than 30m from an estuary/ marine environment (Princess Royal Harbour is 150m north of development area).

Aurora Environmental GVA-2015-001_REPT_mp_v1_pz.docx 7 August 2014

Mr.G. Vasiliu

On-site Effluent Disposal Assessment and Analysis -1ot 2 Frenchman Bay Road, Big Grove

Setbacks

Table 3 summarises the site conditions in relation to Code of Practice for the Design, Manufacture, Installation and Operation of Aerobic Treatment Units (ATUs) (DOH, 2001).

Table 3: Summary Table

Requirement	Site Condition	Comment
Irrigation Area – Disposal minimum area 150m ² .	An area of at least 300m ² would be available for irrigation. An additional 100m ² would still be available for recreation and social activities.	The subject land and proposed lot configuration can meet the disposal area requirement.
Setbacks for irrigation area: Fencing: 1.8m Buildings: 1.8m Paved surfaces: 1.8m Wells, bores dams, water courses used for human consumption or proclaimed water catchment area: 30m	The site is yet to have detailed planning for these elements. However, there is enough space to allow for this requirement. There are no water features within 30m of the subject land.	The subject land and proposed lot configuration can meet the disposal area requirement.
Setbacks for ATU: Boundaries or buildings: 1.2m surface irrigation disposal area: 1.8m Wells, bores dams, water courses used for human consumption or proclaimed water catchment area: 6m	The proposed lots will provide enough space to allow for these requirements. There are no water features within 6m of the proposed lots.	The subject land and proposed lot configuration can meet the disposal area requirement.
Phosphorus Retention Index: Values lower than 20 require use of amended soils.	The PRI values are 83.1 (MB6) and 0 (MB7).	Soils comprising LS5 are suitable for general ATU systems. S14 soil types require the use of amended soils to retain phosphorus.
Depth to groundwater: 500mm from upper irrigation area to highest known water table.	The maximum ground water level occurs in the norther portion of the subject land (MB6) which has been recorded at 1.63mBGL.	The subject land and proposed lot configuration can meet the disposal area requirement.

Source: Requirements from Code of Practice for the Design, Manufacture, Installation and Operation of Aerobic Treatment Units (ATUs) (DOH 2001).

CONCLUSIONS

Aurora Environmental has conducted a review of the available information for Lot 2 to determine whether on-site waste water treatment and disposal is suitable for the subject land. Based upon a review of the relevant Policies, Guidelines and available site data, Aurora Environmental considers the subject land meets the criteria for on-site effluent disposal and is suitable the use of systems, including ATUs. The use of ATUs

Aurora Environmental GVA-2015-001_REPT_mp_v1_pz.docx 7 August 2014

Mr G. Vasiliu

On-site Effluent Disposal Assessment and Analysis - Lot 2 Frenchman Bay Road, Big Grove

(particularly phosphate removing systems) will ensure that there is no appreciable risk to the water quality in Princess Royal Harbour.

If you would like to discuss this assessment, please contact the undersigned on 0447 446 343 or melanie.price@auroraenvironmental.com.au.

Yours sincerely

lulania

Melanie Price

Associate Environmental Scientist Director – Aurora Environmental Albany

Attachments

Attachment 1: Site Maps

Attachment 2: Big Grove Outline Development Plan

Attachment 3: Nutrient Input – Princess Royal Harbour

References

Coffey Environments (2009) Local Water Management Strategy – Big Grove Outline Development Plan Area, Albany.

DoH, Department of Health (1999, as amended 2003) Draft Country Sewerage Policy.

DoH, Department of Health (2001) Code of Practice for the Design, Manufacture, Installation and Operation of Aerobic Treatment Units (ATUs)

DoW, Department of Water (2006) Water Quality Protection Note 22: Irrigation with Nutrient Rich Wastewater.

EPA, Environmental Protection Authority (1990) Albany Harbours Environmental Study. Bulletin 412.

Gozzard, J.R. (1989) Albany 1:50,000 Environmental Geology Series, Part Sheets 2427 J, 2428 II, 2527 IV, & 2528 III. Geological Survey of Western Australia, Perth, WA.

South Coast Rivercare (2015) Sourced on 4 August 2015 from: http://www.rivercare.southcoastwa.org.au/infodata/albanyc/princessh/tables.html

Standards Australia (2012) Australian/ New Zealand Standard – On-site Domestic Wastewater Management AS/NZS 1547:2012

Aurora Environmental GVA-2015-001_REPT_mp_v1_pz.docx 7 August 2014

Mr G. Vasiliu On-site Effluent Disposal Assessment and Analysis – Lot 2 Frenchman Bay Road, Big Grove

Attachment 1: Lot 2 Frenchman Bay Road, Big Grove

Air photo, cadastre and testing locations



Source: Google Maps, 2015

Aurora Environmental GVA-2015-001_REPT_mp_v1_pz.docx 7 August 2014

Mr G. Vasiliu On-site Effluent Disposal Assessment and Analysis – Lot 2 Frenchman Bay Road, Big Grove



Site Topography and Features



.

Source: Landgate Map Viewer (2015)

Aurora Environmental GVA-2015-001_REPT_mp_v1_pz.docx 7 August 2014

Mr G. Vasiliu On-site Effluent Disposal Assessment and Analysis – Lot 2 Frenchman Bay Road, Big Grove

Attachment 2: Big Grove Outline Development Plan

Aurora Environmental GVA-2015-001_REPT_mp_v1_pz:docx 7 August 2014

1

12

i.



Mr G. Vasiliu On-site Effluent Disposal Assessment and Analysis – Lot 2 Frenchman Bay Road, Big Grove

Attachment 3: Nutrient Input - Princess Royal Harbour

Aurora Environmental GVA-2015-001_REPT_mp_v1_pz.docx 7 August 2014

in the

.

1

13

÷

South coast rivercere: Princess Royal Harbour numeri audit tables



Princess Royal Harbour nutrient audit tables

Table 1. Total Phosphorus (tonnes) Entering Princess Royal Harbour 1988-2001

Source	1988	1991	1992	1993	1994	1995	1996	1997	1998	1999	2000	2001	EPA Target
Vital Food ¹	3.50	5,60	3,40	2.98	0,35	0.60	0.48	0.46	0.46	0,69	2.71	0.58	0,66
Metro Meat ²	2.00	2.10	1.70	1.77	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0.43
Wesfarmers-CSBP3	8.10	2.10	0.26	0.02	0.04	0.01	0.05	0.02	0.01	0.03	0.06	0.07	0.80
Princess Royal Seafoods4	0.50	0.50	0.10	0.30	0	0.14	0.06	0,06	0.10	0.28	0.23	0.08	0,10
Albany Spinning Mills ⁵	0.10	0.10	0.10	0.03	0.02	0.04	0.01	0.02	0.02	0.01	0	0	0.15
Total Industry	14.20	10.40	5,56	5,10	0.41	0.79	0.60	0.56	0.59	1.01	3.00	0.73	2.14
Albany Drainage District ⁰	1.10	0.70	1.80	1.00	0.90	0.66	1.31	0.75	0.65	0.98	0.61	0.68	4.60
WAWA Treatment Plant7	1.60	1.60	1.60	1.60	1.60	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Urban Surface Water ⁸	0.26	0.26	0.26	0.26	0.26	0.26	0.26	0.26	0.26	0.26	0.26	0.26	0.30
Total Groundwater ⁹	0.99	0.99	0.99	0.99	0.99	0.99	0.99	0.99	0.99	0.99	0,99	0.99	
Total Other Sources	3.95	3.55	4.65	3.85	3.75	1.91	2.56	2.00	1.90	2.23	1.86	1.93	5.00
Total All Sources10	18.15	13.95	10.21	8.95	4.16	2.70	3.16	2.56	2,49	3.24	4.86	2.66	7.14

Table 2. Total Nitrogen (tonnes) Entering Princess Royal Harbour 1988-2001

Source	1988	1991	1992	1993	1994	1995	1996	1997	1998	1999	2000	2001	EPA Target
Vital Food	3.40	7.70	7.80	10.00	1.93	2.84	2.86	3,11	1.50	1.66	2.89	1.46	2,19
Metro Meat ²	14.3	8,40	11.20	10.30	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1.42
Wesfarmers-CSBP ³	10.00	6.00	2.40	2.24	1.71	2.02	2.13	2.55	1.37	1.47	3.29	1.92	3.35
Princess Royal Seafoods4	2.50	2.50	0.40	0.30	0	1.22	1.02	0.85	0.77	0.54	1.64	0.84	0.34
Albany Spinning Mills ⁵	2.30	1.00	0.70	0.67	0.57	0.55	0.12	0.24	0.24	0.12	0	0	0.78
Total Industry	32.5	25.60	22.50	23.51	4.21	6.63	6.13	6.75	3.88	3.79	7.82	4.22	5.98
Albany Drainage District ⁶	10.00	8,50	11.50	9,50	9.50	8.03	9.35	10.58	6.49	9.04	10,14	5.24	13.50
WAWA Treatment Plant	6.40	6.40	6.40	6.40	6.40	0	0	0	0	0	- 0	0	0
Urban Surface Water ⁸	5.30	5.30	5.30	5.30	5.30	5.30	5.30	5.30	5.30	5.30	5.30	5.30	0.06
Total Groundwater9	5,80	5.80	5.80	5.80	5.80	5.80	5.80	5.80	5.80	5,80	5,80	5.80	
Total Other Sources	27,50	26.00	29.00	27.00	27.00	19.13	20.45	21.68	17.59	20.14	21.24	16.34	14.10
Total All Sources10	60.00	51.60	51.50	50.51	31.21	25.76	26.58	28,43	21.47	23.93	29.06	20.56	20.10

Notes

- Formerly Southern Processors. Reports of overflows into harbour received during year, and it is likely monitored discharge underestimates true discharge.
- 2. Metro Meat ceased operations in April 1993. _
- CSBP discharge into Munster Hill drain. See 6 below.
- Formerly Kailis and France. No processing in 1994, restarted in June 1995. Connected to sewer May 2001. No discharge information for January-May 2001. Austral Fisheries took over late 2001.
- Formerly Albany Woollen Mills. Connected to sever mid 1999, 1999 figures estimated at half 1998 figures, as not licenced and no information available. Company ceased operating 2000.
- 6 Data infrequent or absent for years 1988-1994. 1995 to 2001 figures considered reliable. Includes both Robinson Road and Munster Hill Drains.
- WAWA Treatment Plant ceased discharge into harbours from Point King outfall in February 1995.
- Figures based on initial study by Town of Albany. Estimated 1993 figures used for each year, and no annual monitoring.
- 9/ Figures based on Albany groundwater study (Yu and Williamson, WRC 1998). Figures replaced earlier estimates.
- 10. Does not include spillage at Port, which has been unpractical to measure. The number of fertiliser shipments vary from year to year. Also does not include Woolstores Drain, the catchment of which includes Hanrahan Road Landfill Site. Monitoring in 2001 suggests tip exported 9,759 kg of TN, 9 kg of TP into drain.

Table 3. Foreshore Industry Nutrient Discharge (tonnes) to Princess Royal Harbour 2001

Industry	Total Phosphorus	EPA Target Phosphorus	Total Nitrogen	EPA Target Nitrogen
Vital Food	0.58	*0.66	1.46	2.19
Wesfarmers-CSBP	0.07	0.80	1.92	3.35
Princess Royal Seafoods	0.08	0.10	0.84	0.34
Albany Spinning Mills	Nit	0.15	Nil	0.78

1/2

http://www.rivercare.southcoastwa.org.au/in/odata/a/benyc/princess/stables/Him/

852015	South case	al rivercant: Princess Royal Harbour nutrient:	audit tables	
Metro Meats	Nil	0.43	Nil	1.42
Industry Total	0.73	2.14	4.22	5.98

^a assumes discharge in 2001 same as same period for 2000, as no monitoring undertaken:

Table 4. Foreshore Industry Parameter Variations 2001

З.

Parameter	Vital Food	Wesfarmers-CSBP	Princess Royal Seafoods	EPA Guidelines
TSS (mg/L)	31 - 580	1 20	17+3100	80 mg/L
BOD (mg/L)	400 - 2100	N/A	210 - 2600	100 mg/L
TN (mg/L)	9 - 150	3.5 - 80	16 - 145	10 mg/L
TP (mg/L)	2 - 12	0.4 - 2.4	1.1 - 50	3 mg/L
O&G (mg/L)	N/A	N/A	7 - 780	30 mg/L

[®] assumes discharge in 2001 same as in same period for 2000, as no monitoring undertaken.

Table 5. Foreshore Industry Discharge Load and Parameter Compliance 2001

1.1.1.1.1		Phosphorus	Nitrogen		
Industry	Load	Concentrations	Load	Concentrations	
Vital Food	3	8	3	8	
Wesfarmers-CSBP	3	3	3	8	
Princess Royal Seafoods"	3	8	8	8	

assumes discharge in 2001 same as in same period for 2000, as no monitoring undertaken. 3 = Compliance with EPA recommendations 8 = Non-compliance with EPA recommendations

http://www.nver.care.southcoastwa.org.au/intodata/albanycrphincesstvtables.html

Home

APPENDICES Nos 3A & 3 B

SCHEMATIC SKETCHES OF SUBDIVISION OF LOT 2, FRENCHMAN BAY ROAD, BIG GROVE, ALBANY

40m bushfire setback as per ODP 10830.94 m² POS 17m wide at minimum side boundary setback 4197 m² of 1.5m. 3m separation between envelopes R17.5 as per ODP (Lot size approx 18m frontage x 33m depth = 594 sqm) Maximum building envelope. - Future Subdivision. Schematic sketch of subdivision of low density land coded R10 as per ODP Low Density R10 Road reserve as per ODP (20m min. frontage x 76m depth = 1520 sqm) Showing minimum lot sizes achievable 76m 1 Appendix 3A 20.00m as per ODP 13559.96 m² Homestead Lot .

.

REPORT ITEM PD118 REFERS



APPENDIX No 4

LOT YIELD SCHEDULE FOR BIG GROVE OUTLINE DEVELOPMENT PLAN

PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT SERVICES

ORDINARY COUNCILMEETING & BRIEFING AGENDA – 14/12/10 **REFER DISCLAIMER**

ITEM 1.3

18. The table below summarises the 'projected' lot yield as anticipated by the developer(s) based on market demand for larger lots, and the potential maximum yield permissible under the Codes.

Lot type	Net Residential Area (hectares)	Average Lot size in m ² (applicant	Total yield (applicant projection)	Average Lot size (as per R Codes)	Total yield (based on R Codes)
R10	5.33ha	projection) 1500	35	1000	53
R20	48.5ha	670	721	500	967
R30	5.97ha	400	149	300	199
R40	2.48ha	300	82	220	112
Rural Residential	3.29ha	N/A	4	N/A	4
Total			991	Total	1335

Table 1 - Potential lot yields